Integrability in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Gauge Theories

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades an der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Naturwissenschaften

> Fachbereich Physik der Universität Hamburg

> > vorgelegt von Jan Peter Carstensen

> > > Hamburg 2020

Gutachter der Dissertation:	Dr. Elli Pomoni	
	Prof. Dr. Sven-Olaf Moch	
Zusammensetzung der Prüfungskommission:	Prof. Dr. Roman Schnabel	
	Prof. Dr. Marco Zagermann	
	Dr. Elli Pomoni	
	Prof. Dr. Sven-Olaf Moch	
	Prof. Dr. Volker Schomerus	
Vorsitzender der Prüfungskommission:	Prof. Dr. Roman Schnabel	
Abgabe der benoteten Version:	09.04.2019	
Datum der Disputation:	08.05.2019	
Vorsitzender Fach-Promotionsausschusses PHYSIK:	Prof. Dr. Michael Potthoff	
Leiter des Fachbereichs PHYSIK:	Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Hansen	
Dekan der Fakultät MIN:	Prof. Dr. Heinrich Graener	

Abstract

In this thesis we investigate two questions that shed new light on fundamental properties of supersymmetric gauge theories.

Our first topic deals with the question, which implications results for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills have on theories with less symmetry. Specifically we conjecture that the dilatation operator in the SU(2, 1|1) sector of any $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theory can be found from the one for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills by a redefinition of the coupling constant. This implies its integrability. We prove this conjecture perturbatively up to three loops for the vacuum of this sector and discuss generalizations to the whole sector.

Our second investigation concerns the protected spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD. It is much richer than naively expected. In particular it contains states with arbitrarily large spin, which has been shown by means of the superconformal index. However their form was as of yet unknown. We present an algorithm that explicitly constructs these states in terms of the fundamental fields of the theory.

Zusammenfassung

In dieser Arbeit befassen wir uns mit zwei Fragen, welche neues Licht auf fundamentale Eigenschaften supersymmetrischer Eichtheorien werfen.

Im ersten Thema beschäftigen wir uns mit der Frage, welche Implikationen Resulate für $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills auf weniger symmetrische Theorien haben. Insbesondere stellen wir die Vermutung auf, dass der Dilatationsoperator im SU(2, 1|1) Sektor einer jeden $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superkonformen $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Eichtheorie durch eine Umdefinierung der Kopplungskonstante aus dem Dilatationsoperator von $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills erhalten werden kann. Daraus folgt, dass er integrabel ist. Wir zeigen durch störungstheoretische Rechnungen bis zu drei Schleifen, dass diese Vermutung zumindest für das Vakuum dieses Sektors zutrifft und diskutieren anschließend Erweiterungen auf den gesamten Sektor.

In unserer zweiten Untersuchung betrachten wir das geschützte Spektrum von $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superkonformer QCD. Dieses ist viel umfangreicher als ursprünglich erwartet. Insbesondere enthält es Zustände mit beliebig hohem Spin, was mithilfe des superkonformen Indexes gezeigt wurde. Ihre Gestalt war bisher allerdings nicht bekannt. Wir präsentieren einen Algorithmus, der ihre explizite Darstellung in Abhänigkeit der fundamentalen Felder der Theorie konstruiert.

This thesis is based on the publications:

- J.P. Cartensen, E. Pomoni, Integrability in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ gauge theories, *in progress*
- M. Sprenger, J.P. Cartensen, E. Pomoni, New protected states in $\mathcal{N}=2$ superconformal QCD, *in progress*

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Motivation	1		
	1.2	Statement of problem 1 and results	4		
	1.3	Outline of the argument	6		
	1.4	New vs. old vertices	8		
	1.5	Statement of problem 2	9		
2 Supersymmetric perturbation theory		ersymmetric perturbation theory	11		
	2.1	$\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace	11		
	2.2	Feynman rules for superfields	14		
	2.3	Covariant D-algebra	17		
	2.4	Diagrams with covariant spacetime derivatives	23		
	2.5	Examples of diagrams with covariant derivatives	27		
3	Ren	Renormalization 31			
	3.1	The R-operation	31		
	3.2	Contributing diagrams	37		
4	The	SU(2,1 1) sector	3 9		
	4.1	Field content and closedness	39		
	4.2	Simplifications in our sector	40		
	4.3	Spin chain picture and graphical notation	41		
5 One Loop		e Loop	43		
	5.1	The vacuum	43		
	5.2	Excitations	47		
	5.3	Results	54		
6	Two) Loops	55		
	6.1	The vacuum	55		
	6.2	Results	60		

7	Three Loops 61				
	7.1	Topology 1	61		
	7.2	Topology 2	69		
	7.3	Topology 3	74		
	7.4	Other topologies	79		
8	$\textbf{Class} \mathcal{S}_k$		87		
	8.1	Theories of class \mathcal{S}_k	87		
	8.2	Excitations	91		
9	9 Extra protected states in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD				
	9.1	Equivalence classes of short multiplets	93		
	9.2	Review of the Sieve algorithm $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	95		
	9.3	Results	96		
10	0 Conclusion and outlook 10				
\mathbf{A}	Cov	ariant derivatives and kinetic operators	103		
	A.1	General properties	103		
	A.2	The vector kinetic operator $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	107		
	A.3	The (Anti-)chiral kinetic operators	108		
	A.4	Explicit forms of the background covariant derivatives	110		
	A.5	Simplifications in our sector	110		
в	Cou	nterterms	113		
Bi	Bibliography 11				

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Gauge theories are arguably the most important framework to describe real world phenomena in modern physics. Historically the concept of gauge symmetry was first discovered in the theory of electromagnetism and since then gauge theories have found applications throughout many areas of physics, most notably in the form of Yang-Mills theories [1] in the Standard Model of particle physics, which describes the fundamental interactions at high energies and small scales. Despite remarkable success in calculating measurable quantities there are still many open questions about the true nature of gauge theories as exemplified by the fact that for general compact simple gauge groups the very existence of a non-trivial gauge theory is one of the unsolved Millennium Prize Problems as defined by the Clay Mathematics Institute [2].

However recent decades have seen a plethora of major developments in our understanding of these theories. A particularly exciting branch is the discovery of hidden global symmetries that do not reveal themselves at the level of the classical Lagrangian. In the most favorable cases a theory has as many symmetries as degrees of freedom. This is loosely speaking the definition of an *integrable model*. Due to this large amount of symmetry the theory is highly constrained and many problems can be brought into the form of integral or even algebraic equations, which can be solved exactly, at least in principle. This is in stark contrast to the usual methods of perturbation theory, where only the first few of orders in a series expansion in the coupling constant can be computed. It might seem unexpected that a system as complicated as a four-dimensional gauge theory can be this constrained but indeed it has been found that integrability emerges in very diverse contexts in these theories. One example is the high-energy (Regge) limit of scattering amplitudes in ordinary quantum chromodynamics (QCD) [3–6]. Another seemingly unrelated example is the scaling behavior of gauge invariant local operators in the maximally supersymmetric gauge theory in four dimensions called $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills (SYM) in the planar limit [7–10]. This scaling behavior is measured by the dilatation operator as defined in eq. (1.6). Both of these are related by the fact that they turn out to be described by integrable spin chains. A great review on many topics pertaining to integrability in these contexts is [11].

On the one hand the first example shows that the emergence of integrability does not necessarily require a large amount of supersymmetry, but instead might be a somewhat universal feature in many different gauge theories. The second example on the other hand only deals with a very particular, highly idealized theory. It is then a natural and interesting question to ask, whether and how these restrictions can be relaxed in order to accommodate more realistic theories. In other words:

Question 1: Is it possible to start with results for the dilatation operator in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and infer statements for the dilatation operator in theories with less (super-)symmetry?

Some inroads have been made on the quest to answer this question. In [12–16] QCD with gauge group SU(3) and pure $\mathcal{N} = 1, 2, 4$ theories (i.e. without chiral multiplets or hypermultiplets) with gauge group SU(N) were analyzed in a unified fashion on the light-cone. It was found that at least in these four theories integrability of the dilatation operator seems to be sensitive neither to conformal symmetry nor to supersymmetry and only depends on the planar limit up to two loops. In [17] a one loop analysis of large N QCD identified the sector of purely gluonic operators constructed with self-dual field strengths and an arbitrary number of derivatives to be integrable.

A very different approach was taken in [18]. Rather than looking at a specific theory, a general argument for the integrability of a sector present in any $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal gauge theory was devised. The details of this are explained in the following sections. Most of this thesis is devoted to the investigation, whether a similar argument can be made for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theories.

In order to infer properties of theories with little symmetry from more symmetric ones it is advantageous to have a controlled way to produce one from the other. One such method is the orbifolding of a theory. The importance of this technique in the context of string and gauge theories was realised in [19]. This procedure breaks the symmetry of a given theory in a prescribed way and often the orbifolded theory behaves similarly as its mother theory [20, 21]. Important classes of theories that can be obtained in this way are quiver gauge theories that are orbifolds of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [22, 23], which get their name from the fact that their field content is succinctly



Figure 1.1: Examples of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ quiver theories. (a) shows the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with gauge group SU(2N). Each blob stands for an SU(N) gauge group and the corresponding $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet, while the lines correspond to hypermultiplets in the bifundamental representation. (b) corresponds to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD, which has gauge group SU(N) and $N_F = 2N$ fundamental hypermultiplets. This is obtained as the result of ungauging one of the gauge groups in (a).

summarized in quiver diagrams. Figure 1.1 (a) shows the example of the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. In fact \mathbb{Z}_M orbifolds of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM are $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal gauge theories and provided the testing ground for the analysis in [18] mentioned above. These theories can in turn be orbifolded to obtain $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theories, for example by $\mathbb{Z}_M \times \mathbb{Z}_k$ orbifolds, which we will use as our main examples.

In this way one obtains theories, where all fields are either in the adjoint or in the bifundamental representation of the gauge groups. A further step that can be taken to get more realistic theories is to ungauge one or more of the gauge groups. This introduces a flavor symmetry and the corresponding fields will then transform in the fundamental representation of one of the gauge groups. Thus this is a way to introduce fundamental matter into the theory. A particularly important example of this is shown in figure 1.1 (b), where the ungauging of one of the gauge groups of the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM leads to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD ($\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD), which has $N_F = 2N$ fundamental hypermultiplets.

Our second line of inquiry deals with this theory. Specifically it deals with the so-called *protected spectrum* in the theory. These are states that do not receive quantum corrections (their symmetry protects them from it). Another way to phrase this is that they are annihilated by some subset of the symmetry generators. This implies that they organize in so-called short superconformal multiplets, that have fewer members than generic long ones. A comprehensive treatment of superconformal representation theory is given in [24].

These types of states are an interesting object of study, because many of their properties can be computed exactly. In [25] it was shown that $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD has more protected states than is naively expected. In particular these new protected states can have arbitrarily large spin.

This is the first interacting 4d superconformal field theory, where this has been

observed and this fact is thus by itself highly notable. Soon after, a similar effect was observed in certain 3d superconformal theories [26–28]. It also has important physical consequences. One comes from the AdS/CFT correspondence [29, 30]. Namely it implies that the low energy limit of the dual string theory of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD cannot be a normal supergravity theory but instead it must be a higher spin theory. This is in contrast to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and to the interpolating theory, both of which have a gravity dual, whose low energy limit is a supergravity theory. Secondly protected states usually serve as vacua in spin chains, so the existence of such a tower of new vacua has profound implications, which are worth to be investigated.

The first objective however is to understand the origin of these states. In [25] it was observed that this can be understood by the relation between $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD and the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. Namely there is a theory that interpolates between those two, aptly called the *interpolating theory*. It assigns two different coupling constants g, \check{g} to the two gauge groups. If they are equal $g = \check{g}$, one recovers the orbifold theory. In the limit where one of the couplings goes to zero $\check{g} \to 0$ the corresponding vector multiplet decouples from the theory and one finds $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD. The new protected states must come from states that are unprotected in the interpolating theory and become protected only in the limit $\check{g} \to 0$. The natural question to ask is

Question 2: What are these new protected states in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD?

This question is specified in section 1.5 and answered in chapter 9.

1.2 Statement of problem 1 and results

The result of the analysis in [18] is that any $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal gauge theory possesses an integrable sector, called the SU(2, 1|2) sector, which consists of gauge invariant local operators that are products of fields from the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet with an arbitrary number of covariant derivatives acting on them. This conclusion was reached by realizing that the dilatation operator restricted to this sector is the same as the dilatation operator in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM up to a redefinition of the coupling constant. Since this redefinition has no effect on the integrability, the result follows. We investigate, whether this can be extended to the analogous sector in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories. This sector is called the SU(2, 1|1) sector and is composed of gauge invariant local operators that are products of fields from the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ vector multiplet and covariant derivatives acting on them. A more precise definition of the sector will be given in section 4.1.

In order to understand our main result, it is first necessary to introduce the spin chain picture for gauge invariant local single trace operators. A comprehensive review of this and many other topics related to integrability can be found in the review collection [11]. The idea is that the elementary fields in an operator are mapped to the different sites of the spin chain. Since the trace is cyclic, the spin chains will be closed. A fundamental consequence is that in this picture the dilatation operator acting on the operators is mapped to the Hamiltonian acting on the spin chain. In particular one can define the lowest energy states with respect to this Hamiltonian as the vacuum of the spin chain and higher energy states will be excitations. In our case the operator corresponding to the vacuum is a trace over a local product of the supersymmetric field strengths W_+ , whose precise definition will be given later

$$\mathcal{O}_{vac} = \operatorname{tr} \left(W_+ \dots W_+ \right) \,, \tag{1.1}$$

Excitations are then given by acting with background gauge covariant derivatives ∇_+ , $\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}$ on the field strength factors. A single such derivative is also called a *magnon*. The Hamiltonian induces scattering processes of these magnons on the spin chain and an interesting observable is the corresponding S-matrix. If the spin chain is integrable, the S-matrix factorizes according to the Yang-Baxter equation [31–33]. This equation implies that the scattering of any number of magnons can be reduced to the scattering of only 2 magnons.

Our main result is that for the vacuum of this sector in any $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theory the dilatation operator in the planar limit is indeed identical to the one in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM up to a coupling redefinition

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=1}(g) = D_{\mathcal{N}=4}(f(g))$$
(1.2)

up to three loops. If this result also holds for up to two excitations instead of just the vacuum, this would establish equality of the S-matrix of the two theories up to said coupling redefinition. Since $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM is known to be integrable [34], this would imply integrability for the whole sector. We will present the current status of these efforts.

It is worth mentioning that the redefinition of the coupling constant for $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories is universal in the sense that it does not only hold for the dilatation operator but also for a host of other observables, namely Wilson loops, the Bremsstrahlung function and the entanglement entropy [35, 36].

The following sections give an outline of the argument and introduce the necessary formalism. It relies on the following features

- $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry,
- gauge invariance and the background field formalism,

• the choice of the sector.

The first two of these will be discussed in section 1.3 and chapter 2 and the last one is treated in section 4.1. We also demand

- planarity,
- conformality.

Planarity is demanded because this is the regime, in which $D_{\mathcal{N}=4}$ is known to be integrable. It requires further investigation, whether conformality can be relaxed as indicated by the treatment in [16].

1.3 Outline of the argument

Our argument rests on two main pillars:

Supersymmetric perturbation theory [37] ensures that supersymmetry is manifestly preserved at all stages of the calculation. This is particularly convenient for calculations in the SU(2, 1|1) sector, since all fields are related by supersymmetry transformations and can thus be expressed by a single superfield V and (superspace) derivatives thereof. In particular this implies that in superspace language there is only a single wave function renormalization Z_V .

The background field formalism [38, 39] in turn keeps background gauge invariance manifest. After a suitable splitting of V into quantum and background fields V_Q and V_B respectively, it ensures that the renormalization of the coupling constant and the background vector superfield are related by

$$Z_g(g)\sqrt{Z_{V_B}(g)} = 1.$$
 (1.3)

A further consequence of the background field formalism is that quantum fields and ghosts only appear in loops. This implies that the renormalization factors coming from the vertices always cancel against the ones from the propagators. For a review see [40, section 3.2].

The upshot is that the renormalization of vertices, which are already present at tree level, is governed by a single counterterm $Z_g(g)$. In principle new vertices can be produced in the effective action during the process of renormalization, which require different counterterms. If one can show however that these new vertices don't contribute to the dilatation operator in the SU(2, 1|1) sector, this implies the existence of a unique function f(g) in eq. (1.2). Our goal is to show just that. Composite operators will generically mix under renormalization

$$\mathcal{O}_i^{ren} = Z_i^j \mathcal{O}_j^{bare} \,. \tag{1.4}$$

It is standard textbook material (see e.g. [41, 42]) that the anomalous dimensions and therefore the dilatation operator are given by

$$\gamma \equiv \mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \ln Z \,, \tag{1.5}$$

read as a matrix equation. Here μ is the energy scale introduced by the renormalization scheme. We will use dimensional reduction [43] in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions, where the scale enters through $\boldsymbol{g} \to \boldsymbol{g} \mu^{\epsilon}$ in order to keep the marginal couplings $\boldsymbol{g} = (g_1, \ldots, g_n)$ dimensionless. The explicit form of the dilatation operator is then given by

$$D = \mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \ln Z(\boldsymbol{g}\mu^{\epsilon}, \epsilon) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\epsilon \, x \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \ln Z(\boldsymbol{g}x, \epsilon) \right)_{x=1} \,. \tag{1.6}$$

A direct consequence of the presence of the factor of ϵ and the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ is that only the first order pole in ϵ from Z can contribute. All higher order poles must cancel in the logarithm to get a finite result for the anomalous dimensions. The derivative with respect to x produces a factor of 2L, where L is the loop number.

The task is thus to compute the renormalization of operators in the SU(2, 1|1) sector and show that the new vertices will never contribute. Since our argument relies on the presence of both supersymmetry and background gauge invariance we are naturally led to use a formalism called *background covariant supersymmetric Feynman rules* [44, 45], which preserves both symmetries for most of the calculation. A consequence of this preservation of symmetry is that far fewer terms appear in the calculation and that many cancellations are automatic. The resulting terms are generally less divergent. As was realized in [44] this method still needs to split up space-time covariant derivatives into ordinary derivatives and background connections, when performing the momentum integration. This breaks gauge invariance. This problem was solved in [46] with a technique that maintains gauge invariance all the way. We will explain both of these methods in chapter 2.

1.4 New vs. old vertices

The background field formalism implies that the renormalization of all terms in the expansion of 1

$$S_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^6 z \ W^{\alpha}(x,\theta) W_{\alpha}(x,\theta) = -\frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^8 z \ (e^{-V} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} e^V) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 (e^{-V} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} e^V)$$
(1.7)

is determined by the same factor Z_g . Here $d^8z = d^4x d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta}$ and $d^6z = d^4x d^2\theta$ are the measures of full and chiral superspace, respectively, W_{α} is the full superfield strength and V is the quantum vector superfield. The interaction terms in this expansion are the terms that we call old vertices. Some of these are quantum-background interactions. A useful representation of these is given in terms of the background field strength

$$\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} i [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}] = W_{\alpha}|_{V=0}, \qquad (1.8)$$

which comes from the complete field strength upon setting the quantum field V = 0. This yields

$$S_{\text{gauge},\boldsymbol{W}} = \frac{1}{g^2} \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \; \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}(e^{-V} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} e^V) \tag{1.9}$$

We see that their structure is highly restricted.

In the presence of local operators it is possible that new effective vertices are produced in perturbation theory, which renormalize differently. These are called new vertices. They must be Lorentz scalars and the background field formalism restricts them to be gauge invariant, but other than that they are unrestricted. One example of a possible new term in the effective action is

$$S_{\text{new},W^4} = \int d^8 z \ W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} . \qquad (1.10)$$

Figure 1.2 shows examples of both old and new vertices. Diagram 1.2 (a) can be identified with the structure

$$\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}V(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}V) \subset S_{\text{gauge},\boldsymbol{W}},$$
 (1.11)

which is part of the second order expansion of eq. (1.9). Gauge invariance requires

¹We will go into more detail about superfields and supersymmetric actions, when we properly introduce superspace in chapter 2.



Figure 1.2: (a) Example of a vertex that is already present at tree level, (b) Example of a new vertex

the presence of all the other terms as well. Diagram 1.2 (b) on the other hand is part of the expansion of eq. (1.10)

$$\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \; \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} V \left\{ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} V, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} V \right\} \subset S_{\mathrm{new}, W^4} \tag{1.12}$$

and as such constitutes a new vertex.

Looking at eq. (1.9) it is immediately clear that any vertex, which contains two or more background field strengths must be a new vertex. In fact all of the new vertices that we will encounter in our calculations will have this feature. Our goal is to show that these do not contribute to anomalous dimensions in our sector. These calculations will occupy most of this thesis.

1.5 Statement of problem 2

Let us now turn back to the protected spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD. Let ϕ be the scalar from the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet and $Q_{\mathcal{I}i}$ the scalars from the hypermultiplets. We use indices $\mathcal{I}, \mathcal{J} = \pm$ for the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry, $i, j = 1, ..., N_f$ for the flavor group $U(N_f)$ and a, b = 1, ..., N for the color group SU(N). We define the mesonic operators

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{J}\ b}^{\mathcal{I}a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} Q_{\mathcal{J}\ i}^{a} \bar{Q}_{\ b}^{\mathcal{I}\ i} \tag{1.13}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{1\ b}^{a} = \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{I}}^{\ \mathcal{I}} \tag{1.14}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{3\mathcal{J}}{}^{\mathcal{I}} = \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{I}}{}^{\mathcal{J}} - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{K}}{}^{\mathcal{K}}\delta_{\mathcal{I}}{}^{\mathcal{J}}$$
(1.15)

The naive expectation for the protected spectrum in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD is then given by

$$\operatorname{tr} \phi^{k+2}, \quad \operatorname{tr} \left(T\phi^k\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{M}_3$$
 (1.16)

with $k \ge 0$ and $T = \phi \bar{\phi} - \mathcal{M}_1$. This guess comes from the knowledge that this is the correct protected spectrum for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. However in [25] the existence of a tower

of higher-spin protected states in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD was shown. The tool that was used, is called the superconformal index [47], see also the reviews [48, 49]. This index is invariant under exactly marginal transformations and can thus be computed in the free field limit.

The index vanishes on long multiplets and it counts equivalence classes of short multiplets (i.e. protected states) in the following sense. Suppose there are three short multiplets S_1, S_2, S_3 and they recombine to some long multiplets L_1, L_2 as follows

$$L_1 = S_1 \oplus S_2 \,, \tag{1.17}$$

$$L_2 = S_2 \oplus S_3 \,. \tag{1.18}$$

Since the index vanishes on long multiplets we find

$$\mathcal{I}(S_1) = -\mathcal{I}(S_2) = \mathcal{I}(S_3) \tag{1.19}$$

and we say that S_1 and S_3 are in the same equivalence class. In [25] it was found that the superconformal index of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD does not match the result from only taking into account eq. (1.16). From this mismatch they were able to extract constraints on the quantum numbers of the lowest lying new protected states. Since the index doesn't separate between the equivalence classes, their quantum numbers cannot be completely fixed in this way. We will briefly review this procedure in chapter 9.

The next natural step is to fix the quantum numbers of the states completely and to explicitly construct their representations in terms of the fundamental fields of the theory. We did just that by using the complete one loop dilatation operator of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD, which was derived in [50]. The strategy for this is outlined in chapter 9 and the main results are collected in section 9.3. This is joint work with Martin Sprenger.

Chapter 2

Supersymmetric perturbation theory

In this section we explain the formalism that lies at the basis of our calculations. We start by an introduction to standard $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace, which is the natural language for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric theories. We then describe the basics of supersymmetric perturbation theory and finally we introduce the covariant formalism.

2.1 $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace

Supersymmetry, first described by Haag, Łopuszański and Sohnius [51], is a nontrivial extension of Poincaré symmetry by new fermionic symmetry generators $Q_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}$. It thus relates bosons and fermions. The fermionic generators imply that in contrast to conventional symmetries it is not described by a Lie algebra but rather by a *super* Lie algebra, thereby evading the Coleman-Mandula theorem [52]. The new non-vanishing commutation relations are

$$\left\{\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\alpha}, \hat{\bar{\mathcal{Q}}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\right\} = \hat{P}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\left[\hat{J}_{\alpha\beta},\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\gamma}\right] = \frac{1}{2}iC_{\gamma(\alpha}\,\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{\beta\,)} \tag{2.2}$$

where \hat{P} and \hat{J} are the generators of the Poincaré algebra and $C_{\alpha\beta} = i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$ is the antisymmetric symbol. Our notation follows the conventions of [53]: The simplest non-trivial representation of the (universal cover of the) Lorentz group $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ is the Weyl spinor representation $(\frac{1}{2}, 0)$ and its complex conjugate $(0, \frac{1}{2})$, which we label by indices α and $\dot{\alpha}$ respectively. The combined index $a = (\alpha \dot{\alpha})$ is thus an index of the $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ (i.e. vector) representation of the Lorentz group.

A theory is best described in a language that is tailored to its properties. Just as relativistic theories have a natural description in Minkowski space, supersymmetry takes its most natural shape in superspace. The idea is to extend usual spacetime by fermionic directions $\theta, \bar{\theta}$ in order to give a geometric interpretation to the supersymmetry generators Q, \bar{Q} . A point in superspace is thus labeled by

$$z^{A} = \left(x^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \theta^{\alpha}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right) \tag{2.3}$$

and the action of the supersymmetry generators in terms of differential operators on this space can be shown to be

$$Q_{\alpha} = i\partial_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \quad \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}} = i\bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2}\theta^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

Fields defined on this space, which transform covariantly under these transformations are called *superfields*. The simplest example is the scalar superfield, which is invariant under these transformations

$$A(x',\theta',\bar{\theta}') = A(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}).$$
(2.5)

As in other nontrivial geometries it is possible to construct covariant derivatives, which are invariant under the action of Q_{α} and $\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ (and covariant under the Poincaré generators). These are

$$D_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} i \partial_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \quad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2} \theta^{\alpha} i \partial_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

Their commutation relations are given by

$$\left\{ D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\alpha} \right\} = i \partial_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

Any superfield can be expanded in the fermionic coordinates. Since they are fermionic, this expansion will terminate. The coefficients of this expansion are fields on ordinary spacetime, called component fields. Eq. (2.5) relates these component fields. This is, what is meant, when people say, supersymmetry relates fermions and bosons. The fields that are physically most important, are even more constrained. The two examples we will deal with are the *chiral* superfield Φ and the *real (or vector)* superfield V.

The chiral superfield is constrained by $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi = 0$. Upon the coordinate transformation $y_{\alpha\bar{\alpha}} = x_{\alpha\bar{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2}i\theta_{\alpha}\theta_{\bar{\alpha}}$ it becomes independent of $\bar{\theta}$ and its component expansion is simply given by

$$\Phi(y,\theta) = \phi(y) + \theta^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha}(y) + \theta^{2}F(y), \qquad (2.8)$$

where ϕ is a complex scalar, ψ is a Weyl spinor and F is a complex auxiliary field.

The real superfield fulfills $V = V^{\dagger}$, which gives

$$V(z) = C(x) + \theta^{\alpha} \chi_{\alpha}(x) + \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\chi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) - \theta^{2} M(x) - \bar{\theta}^{2} \bar{M}(x) + \theta^{\alpha} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} A_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}(x) - \bar{\theta}^{2} \theta^{\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha}(x) - \theta^{2} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) + \theta^{2} \bar{\theta}^{2} D(x) .$$

$$(2.9)$$

Since there is a real vector field $A_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, this is seen as a supersymmetric version of the gauge field and indeed it possesses a huge amount of gauge freedom (see eq. (2.23)). By a proper gauge choice, called *Wess-Zumino gauge* [54], it takes the form

$$V(z) = \theta^{\alpha} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} A_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}(x) - \bar{\theta}^{2} \theta^{\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha}(x) - \theta^{2} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) + \theta^{2} \bar{\theta}^{2} D(x) , \qquad (2.10)$$

with the real vector field $A_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, the Weyl spinor λ_{α} and the real auxiliary field D.

As in the non-supersymmetric case V does not transform covariantly under gauge transformations. Instead we define the gauge covariant quantity

$$W_{\alpha} = i\bar{D}^2 e^{-V} D_{\alpha} e^V, \qquad (2.11)$$

which is called the supersymmetric field strength, because it contains the self dual field strength $f_{\alpha\beta}$ of the component vector field $A_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$. Similarly $\bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ contains the anti-self dual part $f_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$. Note that this is a chiral field $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}W_{\beta} = 0$.

The chiral part of the classical action for the vector field is then given by

$$S_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^6 z \operatorname{tr} \left(W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \right)$$
(2.12)

$$= -\frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^8 z \, (e^{-V} D^{\alpha} e^V) \bar{D}^2 (e^{-V} D_{\alpha} e^V) \,. \tag{2.13}$$

Here $d^8 z = d^4 x d^2 \theta d^2 \overline{\theta}$ and $d^6 z = d^4 x d^2 \theta$ are the measures of full and chiral superspace respectively. When this action is written in components, it reduces to

$$S_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{1}{2g^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \left(-\frac{1}{2} f^{\alpha\beta} f_{\alpha\beta} + \bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} i \nabla^{\alpha}_{\dot{\alpha}} \lambda_{\alpha} + D^2 \right) \,. \tag{2.14}$$

These are just the standard terms for a vector field and a Weyl fermion interacting with it. The auxiliary field D has no dynamics.

Renormalizable gauge matter interactions take the form

$$S_{\rm K} = \frac{1}{g^2} \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \, \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\Phi}_j \left(e^V \right)_j^i \Phi^i \right), \qquad (2.15)$$

where $V_j^i = V^a (T^a)_j^i$ and the form of the T^a depends on the representation of the

chiral fields. For example for fields in the adjoint representation this can be written as

$$S_{\rm K} = \frac{1}{g^2} \int {\rm d}^8 z \, {\rm tr} \left(e^{-V} \bar{\Phi} e^V \Phi \right), \qquad (2.16)$$

where now $V = V^a T^a$ with the T^a in the fundamental representation. In components eq. (2.15) reads

$$S_{\rm K} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \bar{Q}_i \Box Q^i + \bar{\psi}_i^{\dot{\alpha}} i \nabla_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\alpha} \psi_{\alpha}^i + i \bar{Q}_i (\lambda^{\alpha})^i_j \psi_{\alpha}^j - i \bar{\psi}_i^{\dot{\alpha}} (\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}})^i_j Q^j + \bar{Q}_i (D)^i_j Q^j + F^i \bar{F}_i \,.$$

$$(2.17)$$

Again we find the standard kinetic terms for the component fields, minimally coupled to the gauge field. however in this term there are also Yukawa interactions between the components of the two multiplets. Finally there can be a superpotential for the chiral field

$$S_{\rm W} = \int \mathrm{d}^6 z \; \mathcal{W}(\Phi) \,, \qquad (2.18)$$

where \mathcal{W} is some holomorphic function. In renormalizable theories it has to terminate after the third order

$$\mathcal{W}(\Phi) = m^2 \Phi^2 + \lambda \Phi^3. \tag{2.19}$$

The name λ for the coupling is an unfortunate convention. It should not be confused with the fermion in the vector multiplet. In components this reads

$$S_{\rm W} = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ m \left(\frac{1}{2}\psi^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha} + QF\right) + \lambda \left(\frac{1}{2}Q\psi^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}Q^2F\right) \,. \tag{2.20}$$

After integration of the auxiliary field F we can also write this as

$$S_{\rm W} = \int d^4x \left(-m^2 \bar{Q}Q + m(\psi^2 + \bar{\psi}^2) - \frac{1}{2}m\lambda \left(Q\bar{Q}^2 + \bar{Q}Q^2 \right) - \frac{1}{4}\lambda^2 Q^2 \bar{Q}^2 + \lambda \left(Q\psi^2 + \bar{Q}\bar{\psi}^2 \right) \right), \qquad (2.21)$$

which leads to mass terms for the fields, a cubic scalar coupling, a quartic scalar coupling and Yukawa terms.

2.2 Feynman rules for superfields

Starting from the Lagrangians in the last section it is possible to derive Feynman rules for superfields in just the same way as one does for ordinary fields. Since this material is covered in the vast literature (see e.g. [53, 55–57]), we will not review the

full details here.

The classical action for the vector field

$$S_{\text{gauge}} = \frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^6 z \, \text{tr} \left(W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \right) = -\frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^8 z \, \left(e^{-V} D^{\alpha} e^{V} \right) \bar{D}^2 \left(e^{-V} D_{\alpha} e^{V} \right) \tag{2.22}$$

is invariant under the gauge transformation

$$e^V \to e^{i\bar{\Lambda}} e^V e^{-i\Lambda} \quad \text{for} \quad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Lambda = 0.$$
 (2.23)

As in non-supersymmetric QFT one has to introduce a gauge fixing function, which in non-abelian theories leads to the introduction of two chiral Faddeev-Popov ghosts c, c'. A suitable gauge fixing function is given by

$$F = \bar{D}^2 V. (2.24)$$

We will skip the details of the Faddeev-Popov procedure, which is analogous to the non-supersymmetric case and just cite the result. The extra term from gauge fixing is

$$S_{\rm GF} = -\frac{1}{\alpha g^2} \int d^8 z \, {\rm tr} \, (D^2 V) (\bar{D}^2 V) \tag{2.25}$$

and the Faddeev-Popov term is

$$S_{FP} = i \int d^8 z \, \text{tr} \, (c' - \bar{c}') L_{\frac{1}{2}V} \left[(c + \bar{c}) \coth L_{\frac{1}{2}V} (c - \bar{c}) \right] \,, \tag{2.26}$$

where $L_X Y = [X, Y]$. In Feynman gauge ($\alpha = 1$) we find

$$S_{\text{gauge}} + S_{\text{GF}} = \int d^8 z \, \text{tr} \left(-\frac{1}{2} V \Box_0 V + \frac{1}{2} \left[V, D^{\alpha} V \right] (\bar{D}^2 D_{\alpha} V) + \dots \right) \,, \qquad (2.27)$$

with $\Box_0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$.

In order to derive the Feynman rules one starts with the generating functional with source terms

$$\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \theta \mathrm{d}^2 \bar{\theta} \, JV + \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \theta \, j\Phi + \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \bar{\theta} \, \bar{j}\bar{\Phi} \,, \qquad (2.28)$$

where J is real, j is chiral and \overline{j} is antichiral. We then take functional derivatives

$$\frac{\delta J(x,\theta,\theta)}{\delta J(x',\theta',\bar{\theta'})} = \delta^4(x-x')\delta^4(\theta-\theta'), \qquad (2.29)$$

$$\frac{\delta j(x,\theta)}{\delta j(x',\theta')} = \bar{D}^2 \delta^4(x-x') \delta^4(\theta-\theta'), \qquad (2.30)$$

$$\frac{\delta j(x,\theta)}{\delta \bar{j}(x',\bar{\theta}')} = D^2 \delta^4(x-x') \delta^4(\theta-\theta') \,. \tag{2.31}$$

Note that the presence of \bar{D}^2 and D^2 implies that whenever there is a chiral line leaving a vertex, there is an extra factor of \bar{D}^2 acting on that line and similarly for antichiral lines. For purely chiral vertices one of those factors is used to complete the chiral superspace integral $\int d^6 z \ \bar{D}^2 = \int d^8 z$.

In total we find the Feynman rules for the propagators in the massless case

$$\langle VV \rangle = -\frac{1}{p^2} \delta^4(\theta - \theta'), \qquad \langle \bar{\Phi}\Phi \rangle = \frac{1}{p^2} \delta^4(\theta - \theta'), \qquad (2.32)$$

and the vertices can be read from the action with the additional rule for chiral fields described above. As an example the $\bar{\Phi}V\Phi$ vertex looks like



where the arrows indicate the direction, in which the derivatives act. Each vertex comes with a superspace integral.

One can see that a supersymmetric Feynman graph has the same structure as a normal Feynman graph but is supplemented by superspace derivatives acting on the propagators. This extra structure encodes the supersymmetry. In order to compute supersymmetric Feynman graphs, one must know how to manipulate these derivatives. This procedure is called the D-algebra. Let us outline its fundamental features.

The derivatives act on the $\delta^4(\theta_1 - \theta_2)$ functions that come with the propagators. One can move the derivatives along the lines by means of the transfer rule

$$D_{1\alpha}\delta^4(\theta_1 - \theta_2) = -\delta^4(\theta_1 - \theta_2)\overline{D_{2\alpha}}$$
(2.34)

and at the vertices one can integrate by parts to shift a derivative from one line to another. Whenever the derivatives are collected one the same line one can use $\{D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\alpha}\} = i\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and $D^3 = \bar{D}^3 = 0$ to reduce the number of superspace derivatives and convert them to ordinary spacetime derivatives. One can show that

$$\delta^4(\theta) = \theta^2 \bar{\theta}^2 \,, \tag{2.35}$$

and writing $\delta_{12} = \delta^4(\theta_1 - \theta_2)$ one then finds

$$\delta_{12}\delta_{12} = \delta_{12}D^{\alpha}\delta_{12} = \delta_{12}D^{2}\delta_{12} = \delta_{12}D^{2}\bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}\delta_{12} = 0, \qquad (2.36)$$

and only

$$\delta_{12}D^2\bar{D}^2\delta_{12} = \delta_{12}. \tag{2.37}$$

If there are no derivatives acting on a product of δ -functions, we have the ordinary rule

$$\int d^4\theta \,\,\delta^4(\theta'-\theta)\delta^4(\theta-\theta'') = \delta^4(\theta'-\theta'')\,. \tag{2.38}$$

The goal is now to free the lines of derivatives by the manipulations described above, so that the θ integrals can be performed. This can be done successively for all lines in a loop except until one reaches the situation where only two θ coordinates and two δ -functions are left. Eqs. (2.36) and (2.37) imply that we need a factor of $D^2 \bar{D}^2$ in the loop in order to get a non-vanishing result.

The end result of these manipulations is an ordinary Feynman graph without superspace derivatives (they were all converted to spacetime derivatives or used in the fermionic integration), which is local in θ , i.e. all vertices in the graph are evaluated at the same θ coordinate.

This is the simplest version of supersymmetric Feynman rules. It keeps supersymmetry manifest instead of splitting up the computation into components. This leads to fewer diagrams than ordinary perturbation theory because many cancellations between component fields are automatic, when they are packaged in superfields.

Despite these computational advantages there are some shortcomings. When one deals with gauge theories one has to deal with the vector field V, which has scaling dimension 0. Due to this Feynman graphs with external V fields have a notoriously high degree of divergence. This is only cured, when all contributions are added and gauge invariance is restored. These problems could be avoided, if we used a formalism that doesn't break gauge invariance in intermediate steps and instead is solely based on gauge invariant quantities. In the next section we will introduce such a formalism.

2.3 Covariant D-algebra

In the last section we discussed ordinary supersymmetric perturbation theory. One of the shortcomings this technique is that it doesn't keep explicit gauge invariance. In nonsupersymmetric theories there is the well-known background field formalism, which splits the fields into quantum and background parts and only fixes the gauge symmetry of the quantum part. Background gauge invariance is maintained throughout the calculation. This formalism exists with minor modifications also in supersymmetric theories. While the splitting in non-supersymmetric theories is usually linear this is not suitable here, because the non-abelian gauge symmetry is highly nonlinear in V. Inspiration for the correct splitting can be found by looking at the transformation properties eq. (2.23)

$$e^V \to e^{i\bar{\Lambda}} e^V e^{-i\Lambda} \quad \text{for} \quad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Lambda = 0.$$
 (2.39)

It turns out that a convenient splitting is given by

$$e^{V} = e^{\mathbf{\Omega}} e^{V_Q} e^{\bar{\mathbf{\Omega}}} \,, \tag{2.40}$$

where Ω is called the background prepotential and V_Q is the quantum vector superfield. We also define the *background gauge covariant derivatives*

$$\nabla_{\alpha} = e^{-\Omega} D_{\alpha} e^{\Omega}$$
 and $\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} = e^{\bar{\Omega}} \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} e^{-\bar{\Omega}}$. (2.41)

Then the classical action eq. (2.22) takes the form

$$S_{\text{gauge}} = -\frac{1}{2g^2} \int d^8 z \, \left(e^{-V_Q} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} e^{V_Q} \right) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \left(e^{-V_Q} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} e^{V_Q} \right). \tag{2.42}$$

From now on we will drop the index and $V = V_Q$ will always denote the quantum field. Since our goal is to only gauge fix the quantum part and keep explicit background gauge symmetry, we have to choose a background covariant gauge fixing function. A good candidate is given by the covariantization of eq. (2.24)

$$F = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 V, \qquad (2.43)$$

which leads to the new term in the action

$$S_{\rm GF} = -\frac{1}{\alpha g^2} \int d^8 z \, {\rm tr} \, (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 V) (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 V).$$
(2.44)

The Faddeev-Popov ghosts will now be background covariantly chiral $\nabla_{\dot{\alpha}}c = 0$ rather than chiral. Since our gauge fixing function explicitly depends on the background, it requires the introduction of another background covariantly chiral ghost *b*, called Nielsen-Kallosh ghost [58, 59], which introduces a term

$$S_{\rm NK} = \int d^8 z \, {\rm tr} \, \bar{b} b \,. \tag{2.45}$$

It has no interaction with the quantum fields. The quadratic part of the gauge fixed action can be brought in the form

$$(S_{\text{gauge}} + S_{\text{GF}})|_{V^2} = \int d^8 z \ V(\Box - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} - i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) V, \qquad (2.46)$$

where $\Box = \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$ is the background covariant d'Alembertian and W_{α} is the background covariant field strength defined by $[\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \nabla_{\beta \dot{\beta}}] = C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} W_{\beta}$.

For covariantly chiral fields in some background one can covariantize the identity

$$\bar{D}^2 D^2 \Phi = \Box_0 \Phi \quad \rightarrow \quad \bar{\nabla}^2 \nabla^2 \Phi = \Box_+ \Phi$$
(2.47)

to find the kinetic operator

$$\Box_{+} = \Box - \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}$$
(2.48)

and similarly for covariantly antichiral fields. See appendix A for more details.

Now that we have this background gauge covariant formulation at hand, the strategy employed in [44, 45] is to perform the *D*-algebra directly with the gauge covariant derivatives

$$(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}) \tag{2.49}$$

rather then splitting them up into ordinary superspace derivatives $(D_{\alpha}, D_{\dot{\alpha}}, \partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})$ and the superspace background connections $(\Gamma_{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\dot{\alpha}}, \Gamma_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}})$, which are the supersymmetric versions of A_{μ} . By working directly with the covariant derivatives, manifest gauge invariance is maintained. This procedure is called the *covariant D-algebra*.

This improves the powercounting, because neither Ω nor the background connections Γ_{α} and $\Gamma_{\dot{\alpha}}$ (with mass dimension 1/2) will ever appear explicitly as external fields. When this formalism was originally introduced in [44, 60] it was still necessary to split $\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ at a later stage of the calculation, thereby breaking gauge invariance. This was solved in [46], see section 2.4, so that gauge invariance can be kept all the way and the only quantity that appears as external field is the gauge covariant background field strength W_{α} with mass dimension 3/2. This is a big improvement over having the field V with dimension 0 as an external field.

The fundamental commutation relations of the covariant derivatives read

$$\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} , \qquad (2.50)$$

$$[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}] = C_{\alpha\beta} \boldsymbol{\tilde{W}}_{\dot{\beta}}, \qquad [\boldsymbol{\bar{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}] = C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta}, \qquad (2.51)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} = - \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\alpha} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.52}$$

These relations are more complicated than the simple $\{D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\alpha}\} = i\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, but they turn out to be very useful in actual calculations. There is a plethora of relations that follow from these definitions. Appendix A is devoted to their derivation. Two of the most important ones are

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \end{bmatrix} = i \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} - i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \end{bmatrix} = i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} - i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},$$
(2.53)

which will be used ubiquitously throughout this thesis.

Another feature of this calculation is that the D-algebra is performed *before* expanding the kinetic operators, i.e. in the presence of the background. Let us see, how this works: The kinetic operators for the vector and (anti-)chiral superfields in the presence of the background are given by

$$\hat{\Box} = \Box - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} - i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}},$$

$$\Box_{+} = \Box - \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha},$$

$$\Box_{-} = \Box - \frac{i}{2} (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) - i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(2.54)

Rather than expanding the propagators in terms of the background field strengths and then do the D-algebra we make use of the commutation relations (see appendix A)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - i (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}, \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}) - i (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}},$$
(2.55)

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{+} \end{bmatrix} = (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + i(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta} ,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{-} \end{bmatrix} = (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) + \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} , \qquad (2.56)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{-} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{+} \end{bmatrix} = 0 .$$

These rules are used in conjunction with the general rule for computing commutators of inverse operators

$$[A, B^{-1}] = AB^{-1} - B^{-1}A = B^{-1}BAB^{-1} - B^{-1}ABB^{-1}$$
$$= -B^{-1}[A, B]B^{-1},$$
(2.57)

to find the commutation relations for the propagators $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ and \Box_{\pm}^{-1} . They are

significantly more complicated than $[D_{\alpha}, \Box_0] = 0$, which is used in ordinary D-algebra but they have the advantage that the external background fields that they create have much higher mass dimensions, which will lead to fewer divergent terms!

At the vertices one can use the Leibniz rule to transfer the derivatives from one line to the others. Pictorially this is given by

$$\nabla_{\alpha} = - \nabla_{\alpha} + - \nabla_{\alpha} , \qquad (2.58)$$

where the arrows indicate the direction in which the derivative is acting. The goal is to collect multiple factors of covariant superspace derivatives in one place, use the commutation relations to reduce them to spacetime derivatives and external fields and to use the fact that as in ordinary D-algebra a factor of $\nabla^2 \overline{\nabla}^2$ in every loop is necessary to get a non-vanishing result.

At the end one still has to expand the propagators in terms of the background fields. Writing $\hat{\Box} = \Box + \mathbf{A}$ with $\mathbf{A} = i \mathbf{W}_{\alpha} \nabla^{\alpha} + i \bar{\mathbf{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\nabla}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ its inverse is given by the recursive expression

$$\hat{\Box}^{-1} = \Box^{-1} - \hat{\Box}^{-1} A \Box^{-1}, \qquad (2.59)$$

which can be used to expand to any given order in the background fields. Eq. (2.59) can be proved by writing

$$\hat{\Box}(\Box^{-1} - \hat{\Box}^{-1} A \Box^{-1}) = \hat{\Box}\Box^{-1} - \hat{\Box}\hat{\Box}^{-1} A \Box^{-1}$$
$$= (\Box + A)\Box^{-1} - \hat{\Box}\hat{\Box}^{-1} A \Box^{-1}$$
$$= \Box \Box^{-1} + A \Box^{-1} - A \Box^{-1}$$
$$= \mathrm{id}. \qquad (2.60)$$

Graphically eq. (2.59) is represented by

$$\begin{array}{c} \hat{\Box}^{-1} \\ & & = -i \begin{array}{c} \hat{\Box}^{-1} \nabla^{\alpha} \Box^{-1} \\ & & \\ &$$

The expansions for \Box_{\pm}^{-1} follow analogously. As we will see in section 4.1 the terms involving \bar{W} will not contribute in our sector and thus the expansions will simplify drastically.



Figure 2.1: Illustration of how superspace derivatives appear on chiral lines on the example of the one loop self-energy of W

Note that the operator $\Box_{\frac{1}{2}} \nabla^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$ still contains the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$.

$$\Box = \Box_0 - \frac{i}{2} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - i \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Box_0 + \boldsymbol{B} \,.$$
(2.62)

Naively it is necessary to expand \Box^{-1} in a similar fashion as $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ in terms of $\Gamma_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, however in the next section we will see how to avoid this.

As explained for ordinary supersymmetric Feynman rules below eq. (2.29) taking functional derivatives introduces a factor of $(\nabla^2)\overline{\nabla}^2$ acting on (anti-)chiral lines. This implies in particular that the (anti-)chiral kinetic operators always come in the combination

$$\nabla^2 \Box_+^{-1} \overline{\nabla}^2$$
 and $\overline{\nabla}^2 \Box_-^{-1} \nabla^2$, (2.63)

which will have important implications later. Figure 2.1 illustrates this with an example of a contribution to the one loop self-energy of the background field strength.

We summarize the strategy of computation as follows

- 1. draw all possible quantum vacuum graphs with $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ propagators (possibly with \boldsymbol{W} emerging from the vertices but *not* from the propagators)
- 2. Bring all spinor derivatives to one place and convert them to spacetime derivatives by using their commutation relations with the operators $\hat{\Box}$ and \Box_{\pm} and using integration by parts at the vertices. This will produce factors of \boldsymbol{W} and $\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}$
- 3. Expand

$$\hat{\Box}^{-1} = \Box^{-1} + i \,\Box^{-1} (\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) \Box^{-1} - \Box^{-1} (\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) \Box^{-1} (\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) \Box^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\boldsymbol{W}^{3})$$
(2.64)

and similarly for \square_{\pm}^{-1} .

4. Use

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\gamma} = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\gamma}} = 0 , \qquad (2.65)$$

$$\delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2) P(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}) \delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2) = 0$$
(2.66)

for any polynomial P in two variables of degree smaller 2 in either variable and

$$\delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2) \nabla^2 \bar{\nabla}^2 \delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2) = \delta(\theta_1 - \theta_2)$$
(2.67)

to complete the D-algebra.

Steps 2 and 3 don't have to be in this order. It might sometimes be convenient to first expand the propagators and then commute the derivatives.

2.4 Diagrams with covariant spacetime derivatives

Many of the diagrams we are interested in contain background covariant spacetime derivatives. A standard way of treating them is to split them up into an ordinary derivative and the connection and compute both contributions separately. This is inconvenient, because the individual contributions will not be gauge invariant. It would be advantageous to find a way of computing these diagrams by working with covariant derivatives directly. At the one loop level this was first achieved by the *Schwinger-DeWitt technique* [38, 61], which has been successfully applied and generalized, see e.g. [62–66]. For the discussion of higher loops we will follow the method introduced in [46], whose essential features we will outline below. For an alternative approach, see e.g. [67]. The main ingredients are the use of the so-called *parallel displacement propagator* [38] and the *covariant Taylor expansion* [65].

After following the steps of the last section one is left with a diagram, where the propagators are given by \Box^{-1} , where $\Box = \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$, and there are external background fields at the vertices and there might be covariant derivatives $\nabla_{\beta \dot{\beta}}$ acting on the propagators. First we consider the propagators. We write the Green's function in terms of the heat kernel as

$$D_{\Box}(x, x') = i \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s K(x, x'|s) , \qquad (2.68)$$

where

$$K(x, x'|s) = e^{is(\Box + i\delta)}\delta^d(x - x')\mathbb{1} , \qquad \delta \searrow 0 .$$
(2.69)

We will usually omit the δ , which is needed for the causal ordering in the Feynman

propagator. The Fourier integral representation of $\delta^d(x - x')\mathbb{1}$ is

$$\delta^d(x - x')\mathbb{1} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \, e^{ik(x - x')} I(x, x') \,, \qquad (2.70)$$

where I(x, x') is the parallel displacement propagator. It has the following defining properties: It transforms covariantly under gauge transformations, it satisfies the boundary condition I(x, x) = 1 and it satisfies $(x - x')^a \nabla_a I(x, x') = 0$. From these properties one can show that

$$\nabla_{(a_1} \dots \nabla_{a_n}) I(x, x')|_{x=x'} = 0, \qquad (2.71)$$

$$I(x, x')I(x', x) = 1$$
, (2.72)

$$(I(x, x'))^{\dagger} = I(x', x).$$
 (2.73)

The Green's function has the explicit expression

$$D_{\Box}(x,x') = i \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{is\Box} e^{ik(x-x')} I(x,x')$$

= $i \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{ik(x-x')} e^{\frac{is}{2}(\nabla^{a}+ik^{a})^{2}} I(x,x')$
= $i \int_{0}^{\infty} ds \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{-isk^{2}} e^{ik(x-x')} e^{is\Box-sk^{a}\nabla_{a}} I(x,x')$. (2.74)

When there are derivatives acting on the Green's function one finds

$$\nabla_{a_1} \dots \nabla_{a_n} D_{\Box}(x, x')$$

$$= i \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} e^{-isk^2} e^{ik(x-x')} (\nabla + ik)_{a_1} \dots (\nabla + ik)_{a_n} e^{is\Box - sk^a \nabla_a} I(x, x') .$$
(2.75)

In order to evaluate the action of covariant derivatives we introduce the covariant Taylor expansion. For a function $\phi(x)$ transforming in a certain representation of the gauge group we can write down its covariant Taylor series as

$$\phi(x) = I(x, x') \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} (x - x')^{a_1} \dots (x - x')^{a_n} \nabla_{a_1} \dots \nabla_{a_n} \phi(y)|_{y = x'} \quad (2.76)$$

In particular this can be applied to $\nabla_b I(x, x')$ considered as a function of x:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{b}I(x,x') = I(x,x')\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} (x-x')^{a_{1}} \dots (x-x')^{a_{n}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_{1}} \dots \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_{n}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{b} I(y,x')|_{y=x'}$$
(2.77)

Using eq. (2.71) and $[\nabla_a, \nabla_b] = -i F_{ab}$, with the background field strength F_{ab} , it can be shown that [64]

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{b}I(x,x') = iI(x,x')\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n}{(n+1)!} (x-x')^{a_{1}} \dots (x-x')^{a_{n}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}'_{a_{1}} \dots \boldsymbol{\nabla}'_{a_{n-1}} \boldsymbol{F}_{a_{n}b}(x'),$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{b}I(x,x') = -i\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{(n+1)!} (x-x')^{a_{1}} \dots (x-x')^{a_{n}} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_{1}} \dots \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_{n-1}} \boldsymbol{F}_{a_{n}b}(x)) I(x,x').$$

(2.78)

Note that this means that we can express covariant derivatives acting on I(x, x') in terms of undifferentiated factors of I(x, x') and derivatives of \mathbf{F}_{ab} . Manifest covariance is thus preserved. Since the mass dimension of \mathbf{F} is $[\mathbf{F}]_{\Delta} = 2$ this also improves powercounting. We will also use

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{a}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} k_{b_{1}} \dots k_{b_{m}} (x - x')^{a_{1}} \dots (x - x')^{a_{n}} e^{-isk^{2}} e^{ik(x - x')}$$

$$= (-i)^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} k_{b_{1}} \dots k_{b_{m}} e^{-isk^{2}} \frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial k_{a_{1}} \dots \partial k_{a_{n}}} \left(e^{ik(x - x')}\right)$$

$$= i^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial k_{a_{1}} \dots \partial k_{a_{n}}} \left(k_{b_{1}} \dots k_{b_{m}} e^{-isk^{2}}\right) e^{ik(x - x')}$$

$$= i^{n} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} K^{a_{1} \dots a_{n}}_{;b_{1} \dots b_{m}}(s, k) e^{ik(x - x')}, \qquad (2.79)$$

where we introduced the notation

$$K^{a_1\dots a_n}_{b_1\dots b_m}(s,k) = \frac{\partial^n}{\partial k_{a_1}\dots \partial k_{a_n}} \left(k_{b_1}\dots k_{b_m} e^{-isk^2} \right) \,. \tag{2.80}$$

This way one can evaluate eq. (2.75) up to an arbitrary order in the derivative expansion and the coordinates of the vertices appear only through explicit background field dependence and factors of

$$e^{ik(x-x')}I(x,x')$$
 (2.81)

We have now freed all of the propagators from explicit derivatives acting on them. Let us now explore how to treat the explicit background fields at the vertices. More details can be found in [46, Sec. 3]. The goal is to shift all of the background field dependence to a single vertex by using the covariant Taylor expansion. Consider some background field $\mathcal{V}(x)$ at the vertex at position x, that is connected to some other vertex x' by a propagator. Using eq. (2.76) we can write this as

$$\mathcal{V}(x) = I(x, x') \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} (x - x')^{a_1} \dots (x - x')^{a_n} \nabla_{a_1} \dots \nabla_{a_n} \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y = x'} \quad (2.82)$$

We have thus shifted the background field dependence from one vertex to another at the cost of introducing an auxiliary factor of I(x, x'). This procedure can be repeated to successively shift the background fields. We end up with a diagram consisting of a background field dependence at a single vertex x_0 , a collection of propagators and some auxiliary parallel displacement propagators coming from shifting the external background fields. The structure of the parallel displacement propagators is now given by

tr
$$(I(x_0, x)\chi(x, x_0))$$
, (2.83)

where x is some vertex that is connected to x_0 by a propagator and $\chi(x, x_0)$ is a product of parallel displacement propagators and also contains the background fields at x_0 . The dependence on the other coordinates is suppressed. Using the covariant Taylor expansion this is

$$I(x_0, x)\chi(x, x_0) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} (x - x_0)^{a_1} \dots (x - x_0)^{a_n} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_1} \dots \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a_n} \chi(y, x_0)|_{y=x_0} \quad (2.84)$$

We thus effectively delete the factor of $I(x_0, x)$ and introduce new background fields at x_0 . The coordinate dependence can again be traded for derivatives with respect to the corresponding edge momentum. This procedure can also be repeated until there are only two vertices left. As argued in [46] it follows then from gauge invariance that the product of all parallel displacement propagators reduces to the identity. The complete dependence on the coordinates is then given by factors of

$$e^{ik(x_i - x_j)} , \qquad (2.85)$$

which after switching to momentum space reduces to momentum conserving δ -functions. The edge momenta only come as products of $K^{a_1...a_n}_{b_1...b_m}(s,k)$ and thus the momentum integrals are Gaussian and can be simply evaluated.

Let us summarize the main features of this formalism. Using the covariant Taylor expansion one shifts the entire external background field dependence to one vertex. This produces more derivatives on the external fields and propagators with higher powers. Then one successively deletes the vertices until only two are left. This again produces more background fields at the designated vertex. At the end one can perform the momentum integrals, because they reduce to Gaussian ones. Due to the trivial momentum structure only logarithmically divergent graphs will contribute.

Diagram	Mass Dimensions	Superficial UV divergence
$\mathcal{O}'' \overbrace{ \mathbf{ abla}_{+\dot{lpha}}}^{\mathcal{V}} \mathcal{V}$	$[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 1$	$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_1\mathcal{O}''(x)(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{V}(x))$
$\mathcal{O}'' \overset{\mathbf{ abla}_{+\dot{lpha}}}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{V}$	$[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 1$	$-\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{O}''(x)(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{lpha}}\mathcal{V}(x))$
$\mathcal{O}'' \longrightarrow \mathcal{V}$	$[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 2$	$\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{O}''(x)\bigg(\tfrac{1}{6}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right\}$
$\mathbf{V}_{+\dot{lpha}}\mathbf{V}_{+\dot{eta}}$		$+ \frac{i}{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \right\} C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \Big) \mathcal{V}(x)$
$oldsymbol{ abla}_{+\dot{eta}}$	$[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 2$	$\mathcal{I}_1 \mathcal{O}''(x) \left(-\frac{1}{12} \left\{ \nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}, \nabla_{+\dot{\beta}} \right\} \mathcal{V}^{\dot{\beta}}(x) \right)$
$\mathcal{O}'' \bigcirc \mathcal{V}^{\dot{eta}}$		$+rac{i}{4}\left\{oldsymbol{ abla}_+,oldsymbol{W}_+ ight\}\mathcal{V}_{\dot{lpha}}(x)$
$\mathbf{V}_{+\dot{lpha}}$		$-rac{i}{4}\mathcal{V}_{\dot{lpha}}(x)\left\{oldsymbol{ abla}_+,oldsymbol{W}_+ ight\} ight)$
$\nabla \cdots \overset{\mathcal{O}''}{\wedge} \nabla^{\dot{eta}+}$		
	$[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} + [\mathcal{V}_{\dot{\beta}}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta}$	$-\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{O}''(x)\mathcal{V}(x)\mathcal{V}_{\dot{lpha}}(x)$
\mathcal{V} $\mathcal{V}_{\dot{eta}}$		
$\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{+\dot{\beta}} \bigvee_{\mathcal{V}} \nabla^{+\dot{\gamma}} \\ \mathcal{V} & \mathcal{V}_{\dot{\gamma}} \end{pmatrix}$	$\left. egin{aligned} \nabla^{+\dot{\gamma}} & & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \$	$-\mathcal{I}_1 \mathcal{O}''(x) \Big(\frac{1}{3} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{V}) \mathcal{V}_{\dot{\beta}} + \frac{1}{6} \mathcal{V} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{V}_{\dot{\beta}}) \Big)$
		$+(\dot{\alpha}\leftrightarrow\dot{\beta})$

Table 2.1: Examples of diagrams with covariant derivatives and their UV divergences. \mathcal{O}' is the part of the operator that takes part in the loop calculation, while \mathcal{O}'' is the rest of the operator, which is external to the diagram and $\mathcal{I}_1 = 1/\epsilon$ is the superficial UV divergence of the ordinary scalar two-point function.

2.5 Examples of diagrams with covariant derivatives

In this section we will discuss in detail some easy examples in order to clarify the procedure outlined in section 2.4. We use the schematic notation \mathcal{O}' for the part of the operator that takes part in the loop calculation, while \mathcal{O}'' is the rest of the operator, which is external to the diagram. We discuss two examples in detail and collect more results in table 2.1. The simplest example to consider is an integral of the form

$$\mathbf{I} \qquad \qquad \mathcal{O}'' \underbrace{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{O}''(x) (\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} D_{\Box}(x, x')) \mathcal{V}(x') D_{\Box}(x', x) , \qquad (2.86)$$

where the explicit background field dependence after performing the D-algebra is given by $\mathcal{O}''(x)$ and $\mathcal{V}(x')$ and the mass dimensions fulfill the relation $[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 1$. As always we concentrate on terms with superficial degree of divergence $\omega \geq 0$ (see eq. (3.1)), which means that the background fields that are produced during the expansion can have at most dimension 1. Let us first rewrite eq. (2.86) by means of eqs. (2.74) and (2.75) as

$$-\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k'}{(2\pi)^d} e^{-isk^2} e^{ik(x-x')} \mathcal{O}''(x) \left(e^{is\Box - sk^a \nabla_a} (\nabla + ik)_{+\dot{\alpha}} I(x,x') \right) \mathcal{V}(x') e^{-is'k'^2} e^{ik'(x'-x)} e^{is'\Box' - s'k'^a \nabla_a'} I(x',x) \,.$$

Due to eq. (2.78) the term involving $\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}I(x, x')$ will have $\omega < 0$. The same goes for the exponentiated kinetic operator acting on the parallel displacement propagators. We are left with

$$-i \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k'}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{-isk^{2} - is'k'^{2}} e^{i(k-k')(x-x')} \mathcal{O}''(x)k_{+\dot{\alpha}}I(x,x')\mathcal{V}(x')I(x',x).$$
(2.87)

Using the covariant Taylor expansion the background field dependence can now be shifted to the vertex at x. The expansion again has to terminate after the first order

$$-i\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k'}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{-isk^{2}-is'k'^{2}} e^{i(k-k')(x-x')} \mathcal{O}''(x)k_{+\dot{\alpha}}I(x,x')$$
$$I(x',x) \left(1 + (x'-x)^{a} \nabla_{a,y}\right) \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y=x} I(x',x). \quad (2.88)$$

Since there are no derivatives acting on the parallel displacement propagators anymore their product will reduce to the identity. The coordinate dependence can also be rephrased by eq. (2.79), which leads us to

$$-i\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k'}{(2\pi)^{d}} k_{+\dot{\alpha}} e^{-isk^{2}} e^{i(k-k')(x-x')} \mathcal{O}''(x) \left(e^{-is'k'^{2}} + i\frac{\partial}{\partial k_{a}} \left(e^{-is'k'^{2}}\right) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a,y} \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y=x} \right)$$

We can now switch to the momentum representation by integrating over the positions of the vertices, which will lead to momentum conserving δ -functions.
$$-i\int \mathrm{d}^{d}x \int \mathrm{d}^{d}x' \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k'}{(2\pi)^{d}} k_{+\dot{\alpha}} e^{-isk^{2}} e^{i(k-k')(x-x')} \mathcal{O}''(x)$$

$$\left(e^{-is'k'^{2}} + i\frac{\partial}{\partial k'_{a}} \left(e^{-is'k'^{2}}\right) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a,y}\right) \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y=x}$$

$$= -i\int \mathrm{d}^{d}x \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} k_{+\dot{\alpha}} e^{-isk^{2}} \mathcal{O}''(x)$$

$$\left(e^{-is'k^{2}} + i\frac{\partial}{\partial k_{a}} \left(e^{-is'k^{2}}\right) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a,y}\right) \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y=x} . \quad (2.89)$$

Since the integral over k is Gaussian, only the even terms can contribute. This reduces the integral to

$$= -i \int \mathrm{d}^d x \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}s' \, s' \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \, k_{+\dot{\alpha}} k^a e^{-i(s+s')k^2} \mathcal{O}''(x)(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_a \mathcal{V}(x)) \,. \tag{2.90}$$

Performing the integrals over s and s' we see that this reduces to the ordinary momentum space representation

$$= \int d^{d}x \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{+\dot{\alpha}}k^{a}}{(k^{2})^{3}} \mathcal{O}''(x)(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{a}\mathcal{V}(x)) = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{d}x \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{(k^{2})^{2}} \mathcal{O}''(x)(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{V}(x))$$
(2.91)

In the last step we used that under symmetric integration

$$k_{+\dot{\alpha}}k^a \to \frac{2}{d}k^2\delta^a_{+\dot{\alpha}}\,. \tag{2.92}$$

Eq. (2.91) is the standard one loop two point integral evaluated at external momentum p = 0. This introduces a new IR divergence, which has to be regulated. One way to do this is to introduce a non-vanishing external momentum. This will not change the UV divergence, because the superficial UV divergence of any logarithmically divergent graph is independent of external momenta. The superficial UV divergence of this graph is then given by

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{O}''(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{V}).$$
(2.93)

As a second example let us consider

III
$$\mathcal{O}''_{\mathbf{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}} \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{O}''(x) (\mathbf{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \mathbf{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}} D_{\Box}(x, x')) \mathcal{V}(x') D_{\Box}(x', x), \qquad (2.94)$$

where now $[\mathcal{V}]_{\Delta} = [\mathcal{O}']_{\Delta} - 2$. The new feature that arises here is that fields of mass dimension 2 can be produced, which means that there can now be field strength terms

from the action of derivatives on I(x, x'). From eq. (2.78) one can show that

$$(\boldsymbol{\nabla} + ik)_{+\dot{\alpha}} (\boldsymbol{\nabla} + ik)_{+\dot{\beta}} I(x, x') = \left(-k_{+\dot{\alpha}} k_{+\dot{\beta}} + \frac{i}{2} \boldsymbol{F}_{+\dot{\alpha}, +\dot{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2} \left(k_{+\dot{\alpha}} (x - x')^a \boldsymbol{F}_{a, +\dot{\beta}} + (\dot{\alpha} \leftrightarrow \dot{\beta}) \right) + \dots \right) I(x, x'),$$

$$(2.95)$$

where the dots stand for higher dimensional background fields. Let us concentrate on the last term. Since the background field strength F has dimension 2 no more background fields will be produced. This implies that no more explicit factors of (x - x') or k are produced either. The integral will necessarily take the form

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \,\frac{\partial}{\partial k_a} \left(k_{+\dot{\alpha}} e^{-isk^2}\right) \propto \delta^a_{+\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.96}$$

This means, that we get contributions with external structure $\mathbf{F}_{+\dot{\alpha},+\dot{\beta}} + (\dot{\alpha} \leftrightarrow \dot{\beta}) = 0$, which vanish due to antisymmetry of the field strength. The first term in eq. (2.95) can give an non-vanishing contribution only, if the momenta are properly contracted. The only term that can achieve this is the second order expansion of the background field

$$\mathcal{V}(x') \propto \frac{1}{2} I(x', x) (x' - x)^{a_1} (x' - x)^{a_2} \nabla_{a_1, y} \nabla_{a_2, y} \mathcal{V}(y)|_{y=x} .$$
(2.97)

The calculation is analogous to the one of the previous example, only instead of eq. (2.92) one needs

$$k_{+\dot{\alpha}}k_{+\dot{\beta}}k^{a_1}k^{a_2} \to \frac{4}{d(d+2)}(k^2)^2 \left(\delta^{a_1}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\delta^{a_2}_{+\dot{\beta}} + \delta^{a_2}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\delta^{a_1}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right) \,. \tag{2.98}$$

The result is

$$\frac{1}{6} \int \mathrm{d}^d x \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \, \frac{1}{(k^2)^2} \mathcal{O}''(x) \left(\left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}} \right\} \mathcal{V}(x) \right) \,. \tag{2.99}$$

The second term in eq. (2.95) is even easier to evaluate, because there are no further background fields produced. It immediately reduces to

$$\frac{i}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^d x \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \, \frac{1}{(k^2)^2} \mathcal{O}''(x) \left(\boldsymbol{F}_{+\dot{\alpha},+\dot{\beta}} \mathcal{V}(x) \right) \,. \tag{2.100}$$

Putting the terms together and using eq. (A.19) the divergent part is

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{O}''\left(\frac{1}{6}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right\}+\frac{i}{2}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right\}C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\right)\mathcal{V}.$$
(2.101)

Chapter 3

Renormalization

The dilatation operator depends on the first order pole in ϵ of the counterterm Z. This in turn is calculated by extracting the superficial UV divergence from a given Feynman diagram. That's the divergence that is left after subtracting all subdivergences. In this chapter we will introduce the necessary machinery. All results will be collected in appendix B.

3.1 The R-operation

The main tool of renormalization goes under the name R-operation [68–70]. This is a method to systematically render a Feynman integral finite by successively subtracting UV subdivergences. In order to understand the method let us first introduce the necessary vocabulary.

Given a graph G its superficial degree of (UV) divergence is defined by

$$\omega(G) = dL + N - D, \qquad (3.1)$$

where d is the space-time dimension, L is the number of loops and N and D are the powers of loop momenta in the numerator and denominator, respectively. A Feynman diagram G is called *superficially divergent*, if $\omega(G) \ge 0$, otherwise it is called *superficially convergent*. Note that this formula counts the power of loop momenta. If all loop momenta were rescaled by a factor x the leading power in x in the limit $x \to \infty$ of the Feynman integral would be $x^{\omega(G)}$. As an example the standard one loop scalar two point function has $\omega = d - 4$, as can be seen from

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \xrightarrow{k \to xk} x^d \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{(xk)^2 (xk-p)^2} \xrightarrow{x \to \infty} x^{d-4} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{k^4}$$
(3.2)

and thus it has a UV divergence for $d \ge 4$. Next consider the two loop graph

Simultaneous rescaling of k_1 and k_2 leads to $\omega(G) = 2d - 8 = 0$ in four dimensions but only rescaling k_2 also leads to $\omega(\gamma) = d - 4 = 0$. This signals a divergence of the subgraph $\gamma \subset G$, which is indicated in blue. A one-particle irreducible (1PI) subgraph γ with $\omega(\gamma) \ge 0$ is called a *UV subgraph*. Subgraphs that can diverge independently of each other are called *UV disjoint*. A set of UV disjoint subgraphs is sometimes called a *spinney* and finally the set of all spinneys is called a wood and indicated by W(G). Note that W(G) also contains G itself. The reduced wood is given by $\overline{W}(G) = W(G) \setminus \{G\}$.

We are now in a position to define the R-operation. It is given by the so-called *forest formula*

$$RG = \sum_{S \in W(G)} \Delta(S) * G/S , \qquad (3.4)$$

where $\Delta(S)$ is the counterterm operation to be defined below and G/S is the reduced diagram, constructed from G by contracting to points all subgraphs that are contained in S. The *-operation is simply given by a product for logarithmic divergences. For higher divergences it acts as an insertion operator. It inserts the momenta coming from the counterterm into the reduced diagram. We also introduce the \bar{R} -operation, which subtracts the subdivergences but does not subtract the superficial divergence

$$\bar{R}G = \sum_{S \in \bar{W}(G)} \Delta(S) * G/S \,. \tag{3.5}$$

For a spinney $S = \{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k\}$ consisting of multiple UV divergent subgraphs the counterterm factorizes

$$\Delta(S) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \Delta(\gamma_i) \,. \tag{3.6}$$

These graphs only have to be weakly disconnected, i.e. they can share a common vertex. On these individual subgraphs there is ambiguity in the counterterm operation, which reflects the choice of different renormalization schemes. We use the *minimal*

subtraction scheme (MS-scheme) [71], where the counterterm operation is given by

$$\Delta(G) = -K\bar{R}G, \qquad (3.7)$$

and the pole operator K, as the name suggests, extracts the poles of a function in ϵ . The superficial divergence of a graph is then given by

$$K\bar{R}G$$
. (3.8)

Let us see eq. (3.4) in action for the simple two loop graph from above.

$$R\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) + \Delta\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) + \Delta\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) \times \left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) + \Delta\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) - K\bar{R}\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array}\right) \times \left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\right) \times \left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array}\right)$$
(3.9)

where

$$\bar{R}\left(\bigcirc\right) = \bigcirc, \qquad (3.10)$$

because the one loop graph has no subdivergences that could be subtracted. We end up with

$$R\left(\left\langle \cdot\right\rangle\right) = \left\langle \cdot\right\rangle + \Delta\left(\left\langle \cdot\right\rangle\right) - K\left(\left\langle \cdot\right\rangle\right) \times \right\rangle . \tag{3.11}$$

The quantity that we are most interested in, is the superficial divergence of this graph. Since the right hand side is renormalized, it is completely finite. This precisely defines the counterterm of the two loop graph itself. This implies that

$$K\bar{R}\left(\swarrow\right) \stackrel{(3.7)}{=} -\Delta\left(\swarrow\right) = K\left(\frown\right) - K\left(\bigcirc\right) \times \frown\right). \quad (3.12)$$

In order to facilitate the computation of the counterterms it is important to note they will always be polynomials in the external momenta of order $\omega(G)$. In particular most of our graphs have $\omega(G) = 0$ in d = 4, which implies that their overall divergence is *independent of the external momenta*. This can be used for a technique called *infrared rearrangement*: One can rearrange the external momentum structure in such a way that the evaluation of the diagrams becomes simple. The only thing to be careful about is that the momentum rearrangement should be done in an infrared safe way, which means that it does not introduce new IR divergences. Look again at our favorite example.

$$K\bar{R}\left(\begin{array}{c}p_{3}\\p_{2}\\p_{2}\\p_{2}\end{array}\right) = K\bar{R}\left(\begin{array}{c}p\\p\\p_{2}\\p_{2}\end{array}\right) \neq K\bar{R}\left(\begin{array}{c}p\\p\\p\\p_{2}\\p_{2}\end{array}\right) \in (3.13)$$

We find that the counterterms for the first two graphs are identical. Only the third counterterm is different because that particular momentum rearrangement introduces an infrared divergence due to the presence of a $1/k^4$ propagator. This can be remedied by a proper generalization of the R-operation, called the R*-operation [72, 73] (see also [74] for a modern approach), which also subtracts IR divergences.

In practice we can always reduce the graphs to propagator type diagrams, i.e. diagrams that only have one external momentum scale p^2 and then set $p^2 = 1$. Results for the unrenormalized graphs are readily found in the literature, see e.g. [75] for some of the graphs dicussed here. They can often be expressed through the functions

$$G(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-\alpha)\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-\beta)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta-\frac{d}{2})}{(4\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(D-\alpha-\beta)},$$
(3.14)

$$G_1(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{1}{2} (-G(\alpha,\beta-1) + G(\alpha-1,\beta) + G(\alpha,\beta)), \qquad (3.15)$$

$$G_2(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{1}{2}(-G(\alpha,\beta-1) - G(\alpha-1,\beta) + G(\alpha,\beta)).$$
(3.16)

By I we denote the unrenormalized integrals themselves, evaluated at $p^2=1$ and

$$\mathcal{I} = K\bar{R}I. \tag{3.17}$$

Let us give some examples to illustrate how these computations are done. A complete list of results can be found in appendix **B**.

The result for the one loop self-energy graph in this notation is

$$I_1 = \bigcirc = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \left. \frac{1}{k^2 (k-p)^2} \right|_{p^2=1} = G(1,1) \tag{3.18}$$

and the divergence can easily be computed by performing a series expansion in ϵ

$$\mathcal{I}_1 = K(I_1) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right).$$
(3.19)

Let us now turn back to the two loop diagram. We are free to choose the particularly

simple momentum assignment

$$I_{2} = \frac{p}{1} \left. \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1}+p)^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}} \right|_{p^{2}=1} = G(1,1)G(3-\frac{d}{2},1), \qquad (3.20)$$

where the last line was taken from [75]. To reduce cluttering we will usually not indicate the external momenta explicitly. We will thus just write

$$I_2 = \left(= G(1,1)G(3-\frac{d}{2},1) \right), \qquad (3.21)$$

Using this result and eq. (3.12) we can find

$$\mathcal{I}_2 = K \left(I_2 - \mathcal{I}_1 I_1 \right) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^4} \left(-\frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \right) \,. \tag{3.22}$$

At higher loops one generally has more subdivergences to deal with. Let us take a look at the graph

$$I_3 = \left. \begin{array}{c} & & \\ &$$

We have again made use of infrared rearrangement to get the simplest possible momentum structure. The explicit integral is then given by

$$I_{3} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \left. \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}(p+k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}} \right|_{p^{2}=1}.$$
(3.24)

Again from [75] we find

$$I_3 = G(1,1)G(3 - \frac{d}{2}, 1)G(5 - d, 1).$$
(3.25)

The forest formula can now be applied to yield

$$\mathcal{I}_{3} = K\bar{R}\left(\square\right) = K\left(\square + \Delta\left(\square\right) \bigcirc + \Delta\left(\square\right)\right)$$

CHAPTER 3. RENORMALIZATION

$$= K \left(I_3 - \mathcal{I}_2 I_1 - \mathcal{I}_1 I_2 \right) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^6} \left(\frac{1}{6\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^2} + \frac{2}{3\epsilon} \right) \,. \tag{3.26}$$

As a final scalar example consider the graph

$$I_{3b} = \left. \begin{array}{c} p \\ p \\ p \\ p \\ p^{2}=1 \end{array} \right|_{p^{2}=1}$$
 (3.27)

With this simple momentum assignement the explicit integral expression is

$$I_{3b} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_2}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_3}{(2\pi)^d} \left. \frac{1}{k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2 (k_1 - p)^2 (k_2 - p)^2 (k_3 + k_2 - k_1)^2} \right|_{p^2 = 1}$$
(3.28)

We computed this integral in Mincer [76, 77], using its O4 topology, hence we do not have an analytic expression. We find

$$I_{3b} = N^3 \left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} + \frac{7}{3\epsilon^2} + \frac{31}{2\epsilon} + \text{finite} \right) \,. \tag{3.29}$$

Note the conversion factor

$$N = (4\pi)^{-2} \exp\left(-\epsilon\gamma + \epsilon \ln(4\pi) - \epsilon^2 \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\right)$$
(3.30)

from Mincer's \overline{MS} -scheme to our MS conventions. The result of applying the rofest formula is then

$$\mathcal{I}_{3b} = K\bar{R}\left(\square\right) = K\left(\square + \Delta\left(\square\right) \frown\right)$$
$$= K\left(I_{3b} - \mathcal{I}_1I_{11}\right) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^6}\left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon^2} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right). \tag{3.31}$$

Excitations introduce tensor structures, which require a new class of counterterms. A useful modern reference for the renormalization of tensor diagrams is [74]. We should mention that the literature on these kinds of counterterms is very scarce.

One might naively expect, that one can extract the counterterm of a tensor graph from its tensor reduced version. This is wrong, because the K operation does not commute with tensor contraction. The simplest case of tensor contraction is done by multiplying with

$$P^{\mu\nu} = \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} \,, \tag{3.32}$$

and the presence of the factor d is the reason, why this operation in general does not commute with K. The correct procedure is to write down the nested structure of the forest formula explicitly and then perform the tensor reduction from the innermost layer. Let us again go through a few examples. As a two loop example consider

An example at three loops is

A few comments are in order. First note that for the computation of the superficial divergence we do not need the explicit analytic expressions for the unrenormalized tensor diagrams. Instead the tensor reduced versions are enough. Also note that all of these graphs are logarithmically divergent and their counterterms are independent of the momenta. The only available tensor structure for them is thus $g^{\mu\nu}$. We list all our results in appendix B.

3.2 Contributing diagrams

We are only interested in the first order pole in ϵ of the superficial UV divergence of a given diagram, since this is the relevant part for the anomalous dimensions of the local operators as explained below eq. (1.6).

An important result is the Weinberg-Dyson convergence theorem [78], which was



Figure 3.1: Some examples of one-vertex-reducible graphs.

first proven in [79]. An elementary proof based on the R-operation can be found in [80]. It states that a Feynman diagram G is absolutely (UV) convergent, if

1.
$$\omega(G) < 0$$

2.
$$\forall \gamma \subset G : \omega(\gamma) < 0.$$

A corollary of this theorem is that after replacing all subdiagrams with their renormalized values, a superficially convergent Feynman diagram G is absolutely convergent. This will give us one of the main tools to decide, whether a particular graph will contribute: Since we are only interested in the superficial UV divergence, we only have to look at diagrams with $\omega \geq 0$.

Consider a graph that can be separated into two graphs by deleting a single vertex. Such graphs are called *one-vertex-reducible* (1VR), while the converse is called *one-vertex-irreducible* (1VI). Some examples of 1VR graphs are given in figure 3.1. Due to eq. (3.6) the counterterm factorizes to the counterterms of the subgraphs. It should be mentioned that in general this doesn't hold for tensor graphs due to contraction anomalies. In [74] it is shown however that it still holds for the overall UV divergence, which is relevant to us. A consequence is that the lowest order pole of the overall UV divergence of a graph with C 1VI components starts is ϵ^{-C} .

Since we are only interested in first order poles in ϵ we can discard all 1VR diagrams. As we will see, these types of diagrams are produced during the D-algebra by canceling propagators.

Discarding these diagrams on the spot saves a lot of effort in the computation of the first order pole, since often they occur quite early during the D-algebra. Too late did it become clear to the author, that this strategy deprives one of the very valuable cross check of the cancellation of higher order poles. A future analysis should include a reinsertion of these contributions and carefully check the cancellation.

Chapter 4

The SU(2,1|1) sector

4.1 Field content and closedness

This sector comprises the local single trace operators that are composed out of elementary fields from the vector multiplet with derivatives acting on them. Also the index of the first copy of SU(2) in the Lorentz group is chosen to be $\alpha = +$, thereby picking the highest weight states. This choice avoids mixing with chiral matter fields.

The motivation for chosing this sector comes from comparing general $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. The one sector that is expected to behave similarly and can be compared to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ is the one that is connected by supersymmetry to the gauge field. The same reasoning has been employed in [18] for the case of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories.

In the background covariant superspace language the gauge covariant building blocks of this sector are the superfield strength W_+ and the derivatives ∇_+ and $\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}, \quad \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}, \quad W_{+}. \tag{4.1}$$

In the conventions of [81] (see table 1 there, see also [82] for details on the representation theory) the scaling dimensions Δ , the $U(1)_r$ charges and the $SU(2)_{\alpha}$ charge j of the superfields are

$$[\boldsymbol{W}_{+}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(\frac{3}{2}, 1, \frac{1}{2}\right), \quad [\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(\frac{3}{2}, -1, 0\right),$$

$$[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, -1, \frac{1}{2}\right), \quad [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, 1, 0\right),$$

$$[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(1, 0, \frac{1}{2}\right),$$

$$[Q]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(1, 1 - \frac{N_{C}}{N_{F}}, 0\right), \quad [\bar{Q}]_{(\Delta,r,j)} = \left(1, \frac{N_{C}}{N_{F}} - 1, 0\right),$$

$$(4.2)$$

where Q are the chiral matter superfields. It is easy to check that the relation

$$\Delta = \frac{r}{2} + 2j \quad \text{at} \quad g = 0 \tag{4.3}$$

is fulfilled by all fields including the covariant derivatives, except for Q and \bar{Q} and $\bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}$. In contrast these violate the relation by at least 2/3 (we are in the conformal window $\frac{3}{2} \leq \frac{N_F}{N_C} \leq 3$):

$$\Delta \ge \frac{r}{2} + 2j + \frac{2}{3}$$
 at $g = 0.$ (4.4)

It is worth emphasizing that these relations are not BPS-conditions. They are modified when $g \neq 0$, but at small coupling they will not be modified enough to account for a change of 2/3 in Δ . Thus they cannot mix. Since the 't Hooft coupling expansion is believed to converge [83], this statement is also true for any finite value of the coupling constant in the planar limit.

At first glance it might be worrying that $\nabla_{\dot{\alpha}}$ fulfills relation (4.3) and thus can mix with the sector, however since there are no anti-chiral fields it can act on directly, it will always appear in one of the combinations

$$\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\right\} = i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \text{ or } \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right] = C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}$$
(4.5)

and thus reduces to fields and derivatives that are indeed present in the sector.

4.2 Simplifications in our sector

The fact that this sector is closed under renormalization to all loops has a couple of important consequences for the computation. Without doing any explicit calculation we can restrict all of the external fields to be in our sector. In particular the expansion of the kinetic operators from eq. (2.54) simplifies to

$$\hat{\Box} = \Box + i \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+},$$

$$\Box_{+} = \Box + i \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} = \hat{\Box},$$

$$\Box_{-} = \Box.$$
(4.6)

From here one easily see that $\hat{\Box} \nabla^2 = \Box_- \nabla^2$. As mentioned at the end of section 2.3 the operator \Box_-^{-1} will always be sandwiched like $\bar{\nabla}^2 \Box_-^{-1} \nabla^2$ in the beginning of the calculation. The computation in eq. (A.58) shows that

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \square_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \hat{\square}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \,, \tag{4.7}$$



Figure 4.1: Example of a closed spin chain with nine sites. Gluon lines indicate the tree level without interactions between different sites. The interaction in the red rectangle will be the focus of our perturbative calculations.

where the equality holds up to terms that leave the sector. There is thus effectively only one kinetic operator $\hat{\Box}$ and its commutation relations from eq. (A.35) simplify to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = i\delta_{\alpha}^{+}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = i\delta_{\alpha}^{+}\left((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} + (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{+}\right), \qquad (4.8)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$

More details can be found in appendix A.5.

4.3 Spin chain picture and graphical notation

Throughout the computation we will use a spin chain picture, which maps these single trace operators to closed spin chains, where each site represents a field W_+ , possibly with derivatives acting on it. The vacuum of this spin chain is

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W_{+}\dots W_{+}\right) \tag{4.9}$$

and the derivatives $\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}$ and ∇_{+} are treated as excitations. See figure 4.1 for an example of a spin chain with nine sites. The red triangle indicates the interaction that arises due to contributions from loops. The explicit expansion of W_{+} in terms of the background fields is

$$W_{+} = \frac{1}{2}i\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, e^{-V}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}e^{V}\right\}\right] = i\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{n!}\left[\dots\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\underbrace{V\right],\dots\right],V}_{k}\right]\right)$$
$$= \boldsymbol{W}_{+} + i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}V) + \dots.$$
(4.10)

The first term is the tree level result and the next term will lead to perturbative corrections. Higher orders will contribute in general, however at a given loop order they are of shorter range and lead to very similar but simpler diagrams. One can



Figure 4.2: Ordinary Feynman diagrams are constructed by closing the operator above the diagram.



Figure 4.3: In the planar limit external fields can only come from the thick lines.

easily transfer the results from the longest range diagrams to the shorter ones and hence we will not consider them further.

We give a brief explanation of our rather unconventional notation. See the leftmost picture in figure 4.2 for a typical example of a diagram. The different sites of the composite operator are denoted by big black dots. In an ordinary diagram notation these points would coincide. The purpose of this notation is to declutter the diagrams because a big part of the calculation happens graphically directly on them. A drawback is that the external momentum structure is only obvious, when we go back to the ordinary notation at the end of the computation. The diagrams are to be read in such a way that the operator sits above the diagram as is shown in figure 4.2.

We will only look at theories with gauge group SU(N) in the planar limit [84]

$$N \to \infty$$
. (4.11)

For theories with matter in some representations the usual 't Hooft limit has to be generalized to the Veneziano limit [85], which also takes appropriate limits of the number N_R of fields in the representation R. The upshot is that in this limit only planar diagrams contribute. This implies that in our diagrammatic notation the external fields can only come from the lower lines. Figure 4.3 shows an example of this, where only the thick lines can contribute external fields.

Chapter 5

One Loop

Our argument compares general Lagrangian $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. For this reason it is not necessary to compute all diagrams that contribute to the dilatation operator, we will instead focus on those diagrams that can potentially be different. This kind of strategy was first employed in the context of the calculation of Wilson loops in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD in [86]. Other notable papers that rely on this strategy are [18, 87, 88] and [89]. In the latter the term *difference method* for this argument was coined. Since any diagram that only contains gauge fields and ghosts will automatically be identical to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ we do not have to consider them further. Also since our sector does not contain chiral matter fields, they cannot appear as external legs but only in closed loops. Since the one loop self-energy correction vanishes due to conformality this implies that the first differences can appear at two loops. In fact a more sophisticated argument in [90] shows that also at two loops there are no possible diagram that can lead to a difference to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. However in order to get used to the formalism it is helpful to see, how it works for simple one-loop and two-loop examples. To help navigate the calculations we indicate changes in the D-algebra in blue.

5.1 The vacuum

The simplest example is the vacuum. We focus on the interaction that takes place in the red rectangle in figure 4.1. At one loop these must always be interactions between two neighboring sites, which we indicate by

The first term

$$W_{+} = \frac{1}{2}i\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, e^{-V}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}e^{V}\right\}\right] = \boldsymbol{W}_{+} + i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}V) + \dots$$
(5.2)

gives us the tree level result

 $\begin{array}{cccc}
\bullet & \bullet \\
\bullet &$

The first loop contribution comes, when both factors of W_+ are expanded to first order. There is thus a factor of $i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}_+ V)$ at each of the two sites. Wick contraction of the two factors of V yields the propagator $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ from eq. (2.54), which we denote by a photon line. The derivatives act on the propagator. We end up with

$$\overset{W_{+}}{\bullet} \overset{W_{+}}{\bullet} = - \overset{\overline{\nabla}^{2} \nabla_{+} \hat{\Box}^{-1} \nabla_{+} \overline{\nabla}^{2}}{\bullet} .$$
 (5.4)

We will start by commuting the factor of ∇_+ from the left site of the operator through the diagram using the commutation relation eq. (A.61)

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = i(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}, \qquad (5.5)$$

which implies

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1}\right] = -\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right]\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1} = -i\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1}.$$
 (5.6)

When the ∇_+ commutes through the propagator, it hits the other ∇_+ and we find $\nabla_+\nabla_+=0$. This leads to

$$- \underbrace{\bar{\nabla}^{2} \nabla_{+} \hat{\Box}^{-1} \nabla_{+} \bar{\nabla}^{2}}_{\nabla_{+} \overline{\nabla}^{+} \overline{\nabla$$

Since the commutation relation for ∇^+ is

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^+, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = 0 , \qquad (5.8)$$

we can immediately commute it to the right side of the diagram, where it combines with ∇_+ due to

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{\nabla}^+ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_+ \,. \tag{5.9}$$

We find



Following this we can use the commutation relation eq. (A.61)

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = 0 \tag{5.11}$$

to commute the $\bar{\boldsymbol{
abla}}^2$ through the diagram. Graphically this yields



In the last two diagrams we use the commutation relation

$$\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \tag{5.13}$$

to reduce the number of ∇_{α} . As always in supersymmetric perturbation theory one needs a factor of $\nabla^2 \overline{\nabla}^2$ for every loop to get a non-vanishing result (see e.g. [53]). The only place where extra factors ∇_{α} can come from, is the expansion of the propagators $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ in terms of the W_{α} .

$$\hat{\Box}^{-1} = \Box^{-1} - i \,\Box^{-1} \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} \Box^{-1} + \dots \,.$$
 (5.14)

This expansion will necessarily lead to diagrams with negative superficial degree of divergence $\omega < 0$ and will thus not contribute as discussed in section 3.2. This can be seen by the fact that the external fields will have a higher dimension than the operator itself

$$[\boldsymbol{W}_{+}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})]_{\Delta} > [\boldsymbol{W}_{+}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})]_{\Delta} > [\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}]_{\Delta}, \qquad (5.15)$$

which does not leave enough momentum factors in the diagram to make it UVdivergent. Thus the only diagram that has enough ∇^2 is the first one and we have

$$\hat{\Box}^{-1} = \Box^{-1} , \qquad (5.16)$$

where the equality is understood up to terms that lead to finite diagrams. No new superspace derivatives are produced after this point and we arrive at

$$i \stackrel{\bar{\nabla}^2 \hat{\Box}^{-1} \hat{\Box}^{-1} \nabla^2 \bar{\nabla}^2}{\underset{k}{\nabla}_{+} W_{+}} = i \stackrel{\Box^{-1} \Box^{-1} \nabla^2 \bar{\nabla}^2}{\underset{k}{\nabla}_{+} W_{+}}.$$
(5.17)

In principle we have to expand \Box^{-1} in terms of the background connection $\Gamma_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$, but by the same argument as before only the ordinary d'Alembertian gives an infinite contribution. Thus we have

$$\Box^{-1} = \Box_0^{-1} , \qquad (5.18)$$

and we arrive at

$$i \quad \bigoplus_{\substack{\nu \in \mathcal{V}^{-1} \square \mathcal{V}^2 \bar{\nabla}^2 \\ \bar{\nabla}^2 \nabla_+ W_+}} \bar{\nabla}^2 \nabla_+ W_+ \qquad (5.19)$$

As in figure 4.2 we can now bring this into the form of a standard Feynman diagram. The result is

$$i \begin{cases} \mathbf{\bar{\nabla}}^{2} \mathbf{\nabla}_{+} \mathbf{W}_{+} \\ \mathbf{\bar{\nabla}}^{2} \mathbf{\nabla}_{+} \mathbf{W}_{+} \end{cases}$$
(5.20)
$$\mathbf{\bar{\nabla}}^{2} \mathbf{\nabla}_{+} \mathbf{W}_{+}$$

where the superficial divergence $\mathcal{I}_1 = 1/((4\pi)^2 \epsilon)$ was introduced in chapter 3. The external field structure of this diagram is

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+} \equiv \frac{1}{2}\left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right\}\right]\right\} = \frac{1}{2}\left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left[\left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\right\}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left\{ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \right\} \right], \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \right\} = -i \left\{ \boldsymbol{W}_{+}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \right\} , \qquad (5.21)$$

where we repeatedly used chirality of W_+ . Hence we find

Note that the anticommutator is exactly the structure we expect from the dilatation operator acting on two fermions at one loop. In our formalism this comes as a natural consequence of the action of derivatives.

5.2 Excitations

5.2.1
$$D((\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_+)W_+)$$

The next step is to compute excitations above this vacuum. Consider the case where there is one derivative acting on one of the fields

The first steps are identical to the previous computation. There are again three terms



As before the third term still vanishes. The second term however can be expanded as in

$$\hat{\Box}^{-1} = \Box^{-1} - i \,\Box^{-1} \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} \Box^{-1} + \dots \qquad (in \ our \ sector) \qquad (5.25)$$

and gives the contribution



These terms give

$$= +i \bigoplus_{\substack{\psi_{+\dot{\alpha}} \square^{-1} \square^{-1} \square^{-1} \nabla^{\dot{\beta}+} \nabla^2 \bar{\nabla}^2 \\ \psi_{\pm} \psi_{\pm}$$

which according to table 2.1 results in

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{I}_1 \left[(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_+), \boldsymbol{W}_+ \right] \,. \tag{5.28}$$

Meanwhile the first term evaluates to

$$i \bigoplus_{\substack{\mathbf{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \stackrel{\circ}{\square}^{-1} \stackrel{\circ}{\square}^{-1} \nabla^{2} \overline{\nabla}^{2}}_{\underbrace{\mathbf{\nabla}}_{+\dot{\alpha}}} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{I}_{1} \left[\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}, \{ \boldsymbol{W}_{+}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \} \right] = \mathcal{I}_{1} \left\{ (\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_{+}), \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \right\} . \quad (5.29)$$

$$\bar{\nabla}^{2} \nabla_{+} \boldsymbol{W}_{+}$$

We thus find

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{+} = \left(\{ (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}), \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \} - \frac{1}{2} \left[(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}), \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \right] \right) \mathcal{I}_{1}$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}) \boldsymbol{W}_{+} + \frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{W}_{+} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}) \right) \mathcal{I}_{1}.$$

$$(5.30)$$

5.2.2 $D((\nabla_+ W_+)W_+)$

The first steps are similar to the computation above. First use the expansion of W_+ to write the lowest order diagram

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad (5.31)$$

Then we commute the undotted derivative to the right

$$- \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nabla_{i}+\bar{\nabla}^{2}\nabla_{i}+\hat{\Box}^{-1}\nabla_{i}+\bar{\nabla}^{2}} = i \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nabla_{i}+\bar{\nabla}^{2}\hat{\Box}^{-1}\hat{\Box}^{-1}\nabla^{2}\bar{\nabla}^{2}} .$$
(5.32)

Commuting the dotted derivative again produces three terms



This is where the differences start. Contrary to the last section all of these terms will contribute. The first term gives

$$i \bigoplus_{i \in \mathcal{T}_{+} \cap \mathcal{T}_{-}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{T}_{-}^{2} \nabla^{2} = i \bigoplus_{i \in \mathcal{T}_{+}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{T}_{-}^{-1} \nabla^{2} \overline{\nabla}^{2} = 2\mathcal{I}_{1} [(\nabla_{+} W_{+}), W_{+}] .$$
(5.34)
$$\bar{\nabla}^{2} \nabla_{+} W_{+} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{T}_{+}^{2} \nabla_{+} W_{+}} \nabla_{+} \overline{\nabla}^{2} \nabla_{+} W_{+}$$

By means of eqs. (A.45) and (A.56) the second term becomes



where the gray color indicates that the propagator belonging to that line has been canceled. After this simplification we can again commute the undotted derivative through the diagram. The commutator will only produce finite terms.

$$i \bigoplus_{\mathbf{\nabla}_{+} \widehat{\Box}^{-1} \overline{\mathbf{\nabla}}^{2}} \mathbf{\Phi} = i \bigoplus_{\mathbf{\nabla}_{+} \widehat{\mathbf{\nabla}}^{+} \overline{\mathbf{\nabla}}^{2}} \mathbf{\Phi} .$$

$$\nabla_{+} W_{+} \qquad \nabla_{+} W_{+}$$

$$(5.36)$$

Finally we can expand the propagator to arrive at



In the third term we first use eq. (A.11) to reduce the number of spinor derivatives



Then we commute the derivative to the right. The only term that gives a divergent contribution is the one, where it actually combines with the other undotted derivative

$$\begin{array}{c} \nabla_{+}\hat{\Box}^{-1}\hat{\Box}^{-1}\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\nabla^{\alpha}\bar{\nabla}^{2} \\ \bullet \\ & & & \\ \hline \hline & & \\ \hline & & \\ \hline & & \\ \hline \hline & & \\ \hline \hline \\ \hline & & \\ \hline \hline \\ \hline & & \\ \hline \hline \\ \hline \hline$$

Since it commutes through an even number of spinor derivatives, no minus sign is produced. The final diagram was computed in section 2.5. Hence in total we find

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{W}_{+} = \mathcal{I}_{1}\left(\frac{3}{2}\left[\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right),\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right] + \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right)\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{I}_{1}\left(\left[\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right),\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\left\{\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right),\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right\}\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{I}_{1}\left(\frac{3}{2}\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right)\boldsymbol{W}_{+} - \frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right)\right).$$
(5.40)

5.2.3 $D((\nabla_+ W_+)(\nabla_+ W_+))$

We also have to consider the cases, when there are two excitations. We start with

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+} \\ \boldsymbol{\Theta} \quad \boldsymbol{\Theta} = - \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}^{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}^{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}$$
(5.41)

As before we start by commuting the undotted derivative



and then commute the dotted derivatives, thereby producing three terms



In the first term we can reduce the number of spinor derivatives by means of the commutation relations, hence it will not contribute.

By means of eqs. (A.45) and (A.56) the second term becomes



where the gray color indicates that the propagator belonging to that line has been canceled. We can now commute the left derivative through the diagram



The third term is



Finally we can commute the leftmost derivative through the diagram. The only contribution is

Hence we find

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+} \quad \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+} \\ \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad \boldsymbol{\bullet} \quad = (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\mathcal{I}_{1} .$$
 (5.49)

5.2.4 $D((\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}W_+)W_+)$

Analogous computations lead to

$$+ \underbrace{\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}\Box^{-1}\Box^{-1}\nabla^{+\dot{\gamma}}\nabla^{2}\bar{\nabla}^{2}}_{\substack{k}} - \underbrace{\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}\Box^{-1}\Box^{-1}\nabla^{+\dot{\gamma}}\nabla^{2}\bar{\nabla}^{2}}_{\substack{k}} \\ - \underbrace{\nabla_{+\dot{\gamma}}W_{+}W_{+}}_{\substack{k}} - \underbrace{W_{+}\nabla_{+\dot{\gamma}}W_{+}}_{\substack{k}} \\ = \mathcal{I}_{1}\left(-\frac{1}{2}(\left[\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}},\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}\right]W_{+})W_{+} + \frac{1}{2}W_{+}(\left\{\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}},\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}\right\}W_{+}) \\ + \frac{5}{6}(\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}W_{+})(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+}) + \frac{5}{6}(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})(\nabla_{+\dot{\beta}}W_{+})\right),$$

$$(5.50)$$

where the results are again taken from table 2.1.

5.2.5 $D((\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}\nabla_{+}W_{+})W_{+})$

Finally we consider the most complicated one loop diagram

$$\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{+} W_{+} W_{+} = i \Phi_{+\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_$$

5.3 Results

In this section we collect the results for the one loop dilatation operator. Remember that there is an extra factor of 2L = 2 in the dilatation operator. We consistently omit a factor of $g^2/(4\pi)^2$. From the results in the previous sections we find

$$D^{(1)}(W_+W_+) = 4\mathbf{W}_+\mathbf{W}_+, \qquad (5.52)$$

$$D^{(1)}((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})W_{+}) = (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{W}_{+} + 3\boldsymbol{W}_{+}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}), \qquad (5.53)$$

$$D^{(1)}((\nabla_{+}W_{+})W_{+}) = 3(\nabla_{+}W_{+})W_{+} - W_{+}(\nabla_{+}W_{+}), \qquad (5.54)$$

$$D^{(1)}((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+})(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+})) = 2(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}), \qquad (5.55)$$
$$D^{(1)}((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}W_{+})W_{+}) = -([\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}]\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{W}_{+} + \boldsymbol{W}_{+}(\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})$$

$$E^{-((\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathbf{v}_{+\beta}\mathbf{w}_{+})\mathbf{w}_{+}) = -([\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\mathbf{v}_{+\beta}]\mathbf{w}_{+})\mathbf{w}_{+} + \mathbf{w}_{+}([\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\mathbf{v}_{+\beta}]\mathbf{w}_{+}) + \frac{5}{3}(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathbf{w}_{+})(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathbf{w}_{+}),$$

$$+ \frac{5}{3}(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathbf{w}_{+})(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\beta}}\mathbf{w}_{+}) + \frac{5}{3}(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\beta}}\mathbf{w}_{+})(\mathbf{v}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\mathbf{w}_{+}),$$

$$(5.56)$$

$$D^{(1)}((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}W_{+})W_{+}) = \frac{2}{3}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{W}_{+} + 2(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}) + \frac{5}{6}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}) - \frac{8}{3}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+}). \quad (5.57)$$

Remember that these are the same in any theory superconformal field theory. We thus find

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=4}^{(1)} - D_{\mathcal{N}=1}^{(1)} = 0.$$
 (5.58)

At one loop order the difference is trivial, i.e. the dilatation operator in any superconformal gauge theory in the SU(2, 1|1) sector is identical to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM.

Chapter 6

Two Loops

6.1 The vacuum

At two loops we encounter the first diagram that can *naively* lead to a difference between general $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. Specifically there can be a chiral loop. The corresponding diagram is the one we already used for illustratory purposes in figures 4.2 and 4.3.

Due to the analysis in [90] also this diagram will not contribute to a difference and will find

$$\left. \mathcal{Z}^{(2)} \right|_{\text{diff}} = 0 \,, \tag{6.1}$$

for any superconformal gauge theory. This is due to the very restricted field content and matter representations. We will still go through the computation, because many of the features of the more complicated three loop computation appear already here in a simpler way. In everything that follows we calculate the contribution coming from a single chiral field.

The derivative structure at the beginning of the calculation is given by 1



We start by commuting the factor of ∇_+ from the left site of the operator through the diagram, making us of eqs. (2.58) and (A.61) and the fact that $\nabla^3 = 0$. We find

¹Actually there are two distinct D-algebra structures on this diagram, however they are just mirrors of each other and hence we consider only one of them explicitly.



Application of eq. (A.11) yields



Note that due to eq. (A.61) factors of ∇^2 can be moved freely across propagators. Application of eq. (2.58) on the right vertex allows us to move the factor of ∇^2 away from the lower line. First consider



$$+ \underbrace{\overline{\nabla}^{2}\widehat{\Box}^{-1}\overline{\nabla}^{2}}_{W_{+}\widehat{\Box}^{-1}} \underbrace{\nabla^{2}\widehat{\Box}^{-1}\nabla_{+}\overline{\nabla}^{2}}_{W_{+}\widehat{\Box}^{-1}} (6.5)$$

In the first and second term one can use the commutation relations to reduce the number of dotted derivatives. Since a factor of $\bar{\nabla}^2$ in the inner loop is needed, these terms will vanish. In the third term the factor ∇^2 on the right line can again be moved across the propagator, which yields $\nabla^3 = 0$. In total we find

$$(A) = 0. (6.6)$$

Following the same arguments as above we see that the only contribution in (B) that does not immediately vanish is the one, where the factor ∇^2 splits onto two different lines.



The factor of ∇_{α} can now be commuted through the propagator on the right leg, again producing two contributions



which we will consider in turn. The *new vertices* only come from (B'), which we will calculate at the end of this section. First focus on diagram (B''). The only non-vanishing contribution is the one where the derivatives are commuted onto the external leg. At this point we can complete the D-algebra in the inner loop. We use the relationship

$$\frac{\Box_0^{-1}}{\bigcirc} \bigcirc \Box_0^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \bigcirc \Box_0^{-1} \bigcirc \Box_0^{-1} \bigcirc \Box_0^{-1}$$
(6.9)

between ordinary Feynman diagrams and commute the derivatives in an appropriate way to make the subdiagram structure obvious. We find



A completely analogous computation, which we will not repeat here, shows that

Both of these vertices have the structure $(\nabla_+ W_+) \nabla^+$, which is precisely the vertex from the commutation relation of ∇_+ with $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ that stems from the tree level action.

Finally consider diagram (B). The strategy for the computation of this diagram is again to commute the leftmost factor $\bar{\nabla}^2$ all the way to the right. This time however there are potentially new vertices produced by

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\right] = \delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_{+} . \qquad (6.12)$$

The two terms that arise are



which by means of eq. (A.9) evaluate to



At this point we have to expand the propagators in terms of the background field strengths in order to have enough factors of ∇^2 to get a non-vanishing result. In the first term it is necessarily the propagator from the chiral loop that has to be expanded, because otherwise the chiral loop does not have a factor of ∇^2 . We find



Due to $\nabla^{+}_{\dot{\alpha}} \nabla^{+}_{+} = \Box$ the upper propagator is deleted and thus this a 1VR graph. According to section 3.2 its overall UV divergence does not have a first order pole in ϵ and will not contribute.

The second term has the expansion



Note the relative minus sign between the two terms. This comes from the fact that in the second diagram the factor of ∇^+ from the expansion of $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ has to be commuted through the vertex containing the factor of W_+ . It is easy to see that their difference is finite and we will not consider it further. Finally the third term gives



The difference of the first two terms is again finite and the third term evaluates to

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{I}_2 - \mathcal{I}_2 - \mathcal{I}_{11} \right) \,, \tag{6.16}$$

with $\mathcal{I}_{11} = -\mathcal{I}_1^2$. Thus the overall UV divergence does not have a first order pole.

6.2 Results

According to the treatment of the last section we find that the only contributions to the dilatation operator that contain a chiral field at two loops come from the diagrams (B'') and (C). These are given by

$$(\mathbf{B}^{"}) + (\mathbf{C}) = \mathcal{I}_2 \{ \mathbf{W}_+, \mathbf{W}_+ \} .$$
(6.17)

For the dilatation operator we have to multiply this result by 2L = 4 and extract the first order pole. We again omit a factor of $g^4/(4\pi)^4$, which gives us

$$D_{\rm chiral}^{(2)}(W_+W_+) = 4\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+.$$
(6.18)

Note again, that in a superconformal gauge theory the field content is very restricted. In fact one finds that the combinatorical factor coming from the chiral loop must always be identical to the one in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. This is a consequence of the vanishing of the one loop β function: The vector and and ghost contributions to the one loop self-energy correction of the vector field are identical, hence the contributions of the chiral fields also have to be the same. This leaves us with

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=4}^{(2)} - D_{\mathcal{N}=1}^{(2)} = 0 \tag{6.19}$$

in the SU(2, 1|1) sector. The first non-vanishing contributions are found at three loop order, which we will calculate in the next chapter.

Chapter 7

Three Loops

We trust that after consultation of the one and two loop computations the reader has gained some familiarity with the structure of the computations. In order to keep the three loop computation reasonably concise we will stop highlighting changes in blue and often perform multiple steps at once.

7.1 Topology 1

7.1.1 The vacuum

We begin by considering the topology given by a chiral loop with a vector superfield propagating inside the loop. First, as always, we commute the factor ∇_+ from the left





In the first term we can integrate by parts the factor of ∇^2 away from the lower left line. The derivatives cannot go on the upper right line because $\nabla^3 = 0$. We find



which, upon using the commutation relations, takes the form





where the second and third term vanish immediately by a lack of $\overline{\nabla}^2$ in the left loop. In the first term we integrate by parts the factor ∇^2 at the right vertex, which yields



where again the first and second term vanish due to a lack of $\bar{\nabla}^2$, while the last term vanishes because of $[\nabla^2, \hat{\Box}] = 0$ in our sector. We follow the same procedure for the second term. The non-vanishing contributions in this case are





where the first term vanishes again due to $\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = 0$. This yields



The first diagram is the one that yields new vertices. Below we will show that these contributions do not have a first order pole and thus have no effect on the dilatation operator. The second term gives a contribution that is equivalent to the one from
diagram (C), which evaluates to



which has the structure of a renormalized tree level vertex.

As mentioned above, the only diagrams that can contribute new vertices are produced from





By commuting the leftmost factor of $\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2$ through the diagram one finds

Now one has to expand the $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ propagators. As an example we look at the third term





Similar cancellations take place in the other terms. The result is





All of these graphs reduce to the so-called Benz topology. The momentum contractions can be reduced to usual scalar products of momenta. In usual Feynman diagram notation the result is given by

$$= + - () + - ($$

where the two different kinds of arrows denote scalar products of the corresponding momenta. These graphs can in turn be reduced to the basis of appendix B. For this we use a reduction procedure similar to the one implemented in Mincer [76, 77]. Using the explicit results from that section it is easy to see that this evaluates to

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\mathcal{I}_{1}\mathcal{I}_{2} - \mathcal{I}_{3} + \mathcal{I}_{32t}\right) + \frac{3}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3b}$$
(7.13)

which does not have a first order pole and will thus not contribute.

7.1.2 Results

We thus find that the first order pole contribution to the counterterm from this topology is given purely by eq. (7.7) and the last diagram in eq. (7.6). They give identical results and upon reduction to our basis, they evaluate to

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{contr,Top1}}^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{16}\mathcal{I}_{3n} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3t} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3bb} - \frac{37}{16}\mathcal{I}_3.$$
(7.14)

The contribution to the dilatation operator from this topology is thus given by

$$D_{\text{Top1}}^{(3)}(W_+W_+) = \left(6\zeta(3) - \frac{647}{576}\right) (\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+).$$
(7.15)

7.2 Topology 2

7.2.1 The Vacuum

The next topology to consider is the one with a chiral loop and a chiral field propagating inside, namely the one given by



with the appropriate derivatives acting on the propagators. In this case we have to consider both D-algebra structures separately, because upon closing the diagram there is no symmetry relating them. The computation is fairly similar to the last one. The starting point are the two diagrams



Their computation is quite similar to the previous toplogy and thus we will skip some of the steps. The first one evaluates to



The first contribution again vanishes



due to the lack of $\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2$ and $\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = 0$. The next one is





The first diagram in the last equation is the one that can potentially produce new vertices. Finally contribution (C) only produces old vertices.





Since the calculation of the other D-algebra structure is virtually identical, we will skip it. The same diagram \bigcirc also appears in that topology and the two diagrams, which contain all the potentially dangerous contributions from these two topologies, are



After finishing the D-algebra the first diagram yields





and analogously for the second topology. Reducing this to ordinary Feynman diagrams leads to





Similarly the other D-algebra structure yields

which together evaluates to

$$= -\mathcal{I}_3 - \mathcal{I}_{32t} + \frac{3}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3b} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3bb} \,. \tag{7.25}$$

This has no first order pole and thus does not contribute to the dilatation operator.

7.2.2 Results

In complete analogy to topology 1 the total first order pole contribution to the dilatation operator of this topology again comes only from eq. (7.20) and the last diagram in eq. (7.19). Note that the momentum contractions are different from topology 2. They evaluate to

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{contr,Top2}}^{(3)} = \frac{5}{16} \mathcal{I}_3 - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{I}_{3bb} + \frac{17}{8} \mathcal{I}_{3n} \,. \tag{7.26}$$

The contribution to the dilatation operator from this topology is thus given by

$$D_{\text{Top2}}^{(3)}(W_+W_+) = -\frac{9}{64}(\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+).$$
(7.27)

7.3 Topology 3

Next we consider the two topologies where there is a chiral field propagating inside the chiral loop. We have two different D-algebra structures



In our notation it looks like they are identical, however remember that the operator sites are closed above the diagram, hence the symmetry is broken and these are indeed two different diagrams. There are two more pairs of diagrams like these, which are treated in the same way and hence we will not consider them further. They are



Importantly the results for the topologies



can also be directly inferred from these, because the computation is virtually identical. The topology



is even simpler and will be discussed very briefly at the end of this section. All these topologies turn out to be relatively simple to evaluate. We find





The first contribution vanishes due to $\nabla^3 = 0$



The second contribution is





where the first diagram is the only one that produces a new vertex and the last contribution is



An analogous calculation for the other topology shows that the only graphs with new vertices come from the two diagrams



After expansion in terms of the background fields and reduction of the scalar products we find





which has no first order pole.

7.3.1 Results

As in the previous topologies the only contributions to the dilatation operator come from eq. (7.32) and the last diagram in eq. (7.31) and they give

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{contr,Top3}}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_3 - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{3n} \,. \tag{7.35}$$

The contribution to the dilatation operator from this topology is thus given by

$$D_{\text{Top3}}^{(3)}(W_+W_+) = \frac{25}{8}(\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+).$$
(7.36)

The same result also holds for



The topology



is even easier. The D-algebra in this case is trivial and we immediately find that the only contribution is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{contr,Top4}}^{(3)} = \mathcal{I}_{3n} \,, \tag{7.38}$$

which yields

$$D_{\text{Top4}}^{(3)}(W_+W_+) = \frac{9}{4}(\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+).$$
(7.39)

7.4 Other topologies

There are other topologies at three loops, which contain chiral loops. All of these have in common, that there is no extra line propagating *inside* the loop. We are not aware of any superconformal gauge theory, where they can contribute to the difference to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. It is nevertheless instructive to look at examples of such topologies. We will consider the most intricate such topology, which is



It is also interesting because it is the only topology in our calculation that has an interaction range of three sites instead of two. In this topology it turns out that the most efficient way is to start at the site in the middle and commute the factor of ∇_+ onto the chiral loop. We find





Again we consider these contributions in turn. The first one gives





and after expansion of the propagators this is



The second contribution is particularly simple due to $\nabla^3 = 0$.



For (\mathbf{C}) we find



which after expansion of the propagators evaluates to





The fourth contribution is





and after expansion





Finally the last contribution is



Going through the same procedure as for the other topologies one finds that the only diagrams, in which new vertices could contribute, are



After reduction to our basis the dangerous diagrams take the form



These clearly cancel.

Let us reiterate that we do not know any $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theory, in which this topology could contribute.

Chapter 8

Class \mathcal{S}_k

It turns out that the issue of extending our calculation to the whole SU(2, 1|1) sector is subtle. For the argument outlined in section 1 it is necessary to keep manifest gauge invariance. This can be achieved by using the manifestly covariant formalism from section 2.4. However since this formalism relies on shifting the external fields to a single vertex it obscures the external structure of divergent subgraphs thereby making it difficult idenfify the corresponding counterterms. This issue is as of yet unresolved. As a first step towards the resolution of this problem in this section we present partial results for a particular set of theories, called class S_k , which were introduced in [91] and further studied in [92–100]. These allow for a simplified version of our argument. At least up to three loops we can formulate the argument without referring to the cancellation of new vertices. In principle we could even use a non-covariant formalism, however as argued in section 2 this leads to a stark increase in the amount of diagrams that have to be computed. In the following sections we will present those features of theories of class S_k that are important for our computation and than give an overview over the next steps of the calculation.

8.1 Theories of class S_k

These theories were introduced in [91]. In general they are given by twisted compactifications of six-dimensional (1,0) SCFTs on a Riemann surface. In this section we are only interested in the subclass of these theories, which admit a Lagrangian description. In particular we consider the set of quiver gauge theories obtained as \mathbb{Z}_k orbifolds of elliptic $\mathcal{N} = 2$ quivers. They are conformal by inheritance arguments [20, 21, 23]. They are illustrated by the diagram in figure 8.1. Each blob stands for an SU(N) gauge group with a vector superfield $V_{(i,c)}$ and the field representations under these gauge groups are given in table 8.1.



Figure 8.1: Quiver diagram for a theory of class S_k with $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ and $c \in \{0, \ldots, M\}$. The nodes stand for gauge groups and their corresponding vector multiplets and lines stand for chiral fields in the bifundamental representation of the gauge groups they connect. We consider the sector made out of fields from the vectormultiplet corresponding to the gauge group $SU(N)_{(i,c)}$ denoted by the red blob. The figure is adapted from [94].

The superpotential is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_W = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{c=1}^M \operatorname{tr} \left(g_{(i,c)} Q_{(i,c-1)} \Phi_{(i,c)} \tilde{Q}_{(i,c-1)} - g_{(i+1,c)} \tilde{Q}_{(i,c)} \Phi_{(i,c)} Q_{(i+1,c)} \right) \,. \tag{8.1}$$

In this sum cyclicity of the indices i and c is understood (k+1, c) = (1, c), (i, 0) = (i, c). Notice that this can simply be read from the diagrams by following the triangular paths. The sign is determined by the orientation of the path. In this section we will use the rescaled fields $V_{(i,c)} \rightarrow g_{(i,c)}V_{(i,c)}$ in order to make the coupling dependence explicit and to get the conventional prefactors for the vertices. The gauge matter interactions are then given by the Kähler potential

$$\mathcal{L}_{K} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{c=1}^{M} \operatorname{tr} \left(e^{-g_{(i+1,c)}V_{(i+1,c)}} \bar{\Phi}_{(i,c)} e^{g_{(i,c)}V_{(i,c)}} \Phi_{(i,c)} + e^{-g_{(i,c)}V_{(i,c)}} \bar{Q}_{(i,c-1)} e^{g_{(i,c-1)}V_{(i,c-1)}} Q_{(i,c-1)} + e^{-g_{(i,c-1)}V_{(i,c-1)}} \bar{\tilde{Q}}_{(i,c-1)} e^{g_{(i+1,c)}V_{(i+1,c)}} \tilde{Q}_{(i,c-1)} \right)$$

$$(8.2)$$

and together with

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{c=1}^{M} W^{\alpha}_{(i,c)} W_{\alpha(i,c)}$$
(8.3)

	$SU(N)_{(i,c-1)}$	$SU(N)_{(i,c)}$	$SU(N)_{(i+1,c)}$
$V_{(i,c)}$	1	adj.	1
$\Phi_{(i,c)}$	1		
$Q_{(i,c-1)}$			1
$\tilde{Q}_{(i,c-1)}$		1	

Table 8.1: Representations of the fields under the various gauge groups. It is understood that $SU(N)_{(k+1,c)} = SU(N)_{(1,c)}$. The table is adapted from [94].



Figure 8.2: Topoplogies that contribute to the difference between theories of class S_k and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM.

the complete classical Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}_k} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{gauge}} + \mathcal{L}_K + \mathcal{L}_W.$$
(8.4)

We will again make use of the difference method, only looking at diagrams that can potentially be different from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. As observed in [18, 90] for the case of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories the only differences come from the presence of other gauge couplings. Say we consider the SU(2,1|1) sector that is made out of fields from the vector multiplet of the gauge group $SU(N)_{(i,c)}$, then the only fields that can contribute to diagrams up to three loops are the solid ones in figure 8.1. The shaded lines start contributing at higher orders. As can be easily seen from the interaction terms in eqs. (8.1) and (8.2)the diagrams that lead to differences either contain at least of the six neighboring vector superfields $V_{(i-1,c-1)}, V_{(i,c-1)}, V_{(i+1,c)}, V_{(i+1,c+1)}, V_{(i,c+1)}$ or $V_{(i-1,c)}$ or at least one of the four chiral fields $\Phi_{(i-1,c)}, \Phi_{(i,c)}, \Phi_{(i-1,c-1)}$ or $\Phi_{(i,c+1)}$. All of these diagrams have the form of topologies 1, 2 and the simplified version of 3 in section 7. These are shown in figure 8.2. In particular there are no contributions from one loop self-energy corrections of the chiral fields inside the loop as in the original version of topology 3, because these cancel. As an illustration consider all the diagrams that have the field $\Phi_{(i,c)}$ at the left vertex. These are listed in figure 8.3. Note that all of them come with a prefactor $g_{(i,c)}^2 g_{(i+1,c)}^2$ except for the last one, which has a prefactor of $g_{(i,c)}^2 g_{(i,c)}^2$. This prefactor is identical to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and thus this diagram will not contribute



Figure 8.3: All two loop subgraphs, where the chiral field that connects to the left vertex is $\Phi_{(i,c)}$. The first four topologies have a prefactor $g_{(i,c)}^2 g_{(i+1,c)}^2$, while the last one has a prefactor of $g_{(i,c)}^2 g_{(i,c)}^2$.

to the difference. Analogous computations work for all the other chiral fields. After collecting the diagrams according to the coupling constants one finds for the difference

where the diagrams in this equation are meant to be single flavor. We can now collect the results from sections 7.1.2, 7.2.2 and 7.3.1. In total we find

$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff}}^{(3)} = g_{(i,c)}^{4} \left(4g_{(i,c)}^{2} - g_{(i+1,c)}^{2} - g_{(i-1,c)}^{2} - g_{(i,c+1)}^{2} - g_{(i,c-1)}^{2} \right) \\ \times \left(\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top1}}^{(3)} + 2\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top2}}^{(3)} + 4\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top3}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top4}}^{(3)} \right) \\ + g_{(i,c)}^{4} \left(2g_{(i,c)}^{2} - g_{(i-1,c-1)}^{2} - g_{(i+1,c+1)}^{2} \right) \\ \times \left(\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top1}}^{(3)} + 4\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top3}}^{(3)} + \mathcal{D}_{\text{diff},\text{Top4}}^{(3)} \right) , \qquad (8.6)$$

which upon defining

$$A = -2g_{(i,c)}^{2} + g_{(i+1,c)}^{2} + g_{(i-1,c)}^{2} + g_{(i,c+1)}^{2} + g_{(i,c-1)}^{2} - g_{(i-1,c-1)}^{2} - g_{(i+1,c+1)}^{2},$$

$$B = 6g_{(i,c)}^{2} - g_{(i+1,c)}^{2} - g_{(i-1,c)}^{2} - g_{(i,c+1)}^{2} - g_{(i,c-1)}^{2} - g_{(i-1,c-1)}^{2} - g_{(i+1,c+1)}^{2},$$
(8.7)

takes the explicit form

$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{diff}}^{(3)}(W_+W_+) = g_{(i,c)}^4 \left(12\zeta(3)B + \frac{9}{32}A \right) \left(\boldsymbol{W}_+ \boldsymbol{W}_+ \right).$$
(8.8)

This can now related to the one loop result from eq. (5.52)

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=4}^{(1)}(g_{(i,c)}^2)(W_+W_+) = 4g_{(i,c)}^2(\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+).$$
(8.9)

From here we find

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=1}(\boldsymbol{g}^2)(W_+W_+) = D_{\mathcal{N}=4}(f(\boldsymbol{g}^2))(\boldsymbol{W}_+\boldsymbol{W}_+)$$
(8.10)

with

$$f(\boldsymbol{g}^2) = g_{(i,c)}^2 + g_{(i,c)}^4 \left(A \frac{9}{128} + 3B\zeta(3) \right) .$$
(8.11)

Note that in contrast to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case there is a term with subleading transcendentality.

An important consistency check is that for k = 1 they should reduce to the result for an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ quiver. Setting k = 1 implies $g_{(i,c)} = g_{(j,c)} = g_c$. Indeed upon this substitution one finds

$$A = 0$$

$$B = 2(2g_c^2 - g_{c+1}^2 - g_{c-1}^2)$$
(8.12)

and thus

$$f(\boldsymbol{g})_{\mathcal{N}=2} = g_c^2 + 6g_c^2(2g_c^2 - g_{c+1}^2 - g_{c-1}^2), \qquad (8.13)$$

which precisely matches the result from [35].

Since we omitted diagrams that only contribute higher order poles in our calculations we have unfortunately deprived ourselves of the chance to cross check the cancellation of higher order poles. This should be remedied in future work.

8.2 Excitations

The argument in the preceeding section has a fairly straightforward generalization, when derivatives are added. The topologies that contribute will be precisely the same, only that there are extra derivatives acting on the propagators connected to the operator insertion. It follows from powercounting that more terms can contribute. Another feature is that similarly to the computations in section 5.2 the D-algebra produces terms, where the dimensions of the external fields are smaller than the dimensions of the fields of the operator participating in the interaction. In order to treat these in a covariant fashion one has to use the formalism from section 2.4. In order for this to be feasibly done at three loops, it has to be automated. The end result of this computation are logarithmically divergent vacuum graphs with vector indices. These are the central object of interest in [74], where they go by the name LTVGs or *logarithmic tensor vacuum graphs*. This paper also introduces a method

how to properly extract their overall UV divergences, which is the quantity needed for the computation of the dilation operator. The UV divergences for some of the graphs that occur in our calculation are collected in appendix B. Since our calculation is not finished, neither is the list of counterterms.

As an illustration of what a result would look like, let us consider the action of the dilatation operator on $(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} W_+)W_+$. Since our calculation preserves manifest gauge invariance it follows that the only external field structures are $(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}} W_+)\nabla_+$ and $\nabla_+(W_{+\dot{\alpha}} W_+)$.

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=4}^{(3)}(g_{(i,c)}^{2})((\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})W_{+}) - D_{\mathcal{N}=1}^{(3)}(g^{2})(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})W_{+}) = h_{1}(g)(\nabla_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})W_{+}) + h_{2}(g)(\nabla_{+}(W_{+\dot{\alpha}}W_{+})).$$
(8.14)

Compare this to the one loop dilatation operator, which is inferred from eq. (5.30)

$$D_{\mathcal{N}=4}^{(1)} \left(g_{(i,c)}^2 \right) \left((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_+) \boldsymbol{W}_+ \right) = g_{(i,c)}^2 \left(\left((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_+) \boldsymbol{W}_+ \right) + 3(\boldsymbol{W}_+ (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_+)) \right) \,.$$
(8.15)

In order for the difference argument to work the right-hand sides of these equations have to match up to the redefinition $g_{(i,c)}^2 \to f(\mathbf{g}^2)$. This implies that

$$h_2(g) = 3h_1(g) = f(g).$$
 (8.16)

This is by no means trivial and would provide a very strong check of the argument. As mentioned above this calculation is currently work in progress.

Similar statements with checks along the same lines can be made for higher excitations. As mentioned in the introduction, it is enough to look at diagrams with up to two excitations, because this would establish equality of the S-matrix on the spin chain of the two theories up to the coupling redefinition. Since integrability in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM implies a factorization of the S-matrix, higher excitations can be obtained from the Yang-Baxter equation.

Chapter 9

Extra protected states in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD

In this section we describe the calculation of the new protected states. In order to do this we review some notions of superconformal representation theory, the superconformal index and the emergence of equivalence classes of short multiplets for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra. We follow the conventions of [24]. We will then briefly review the Sieve algorithm from [25] used to get the constraints on the quantum numbers of the new protected states and finally we describe our strategy to get their explicit forms.

9.1 Equivalence classes of short multiplets

Let us start by briefly discussing some properties of the representation theory of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra. For more details on the topics mentioned here the reader should consult the classic reference [24]. The bosonic symmetries of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal group are the Lorentz group with spin indices (j, \bar{j}) and the so-called R-symmetry group $SU(2)_R \times U(1)_r$, for which we use the quantum numbers R and r, respectively. A superconformal multiplet is formed by acting with the supercharges and the raising operator for the $SU(2)_R$ group on the superconformal primaries. A general such multiplet is denoted by $\mathcal{A}^{\Delta}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}$, where Δ is the conformal dimension of the superconformal primary.

It is possible to put constraints on these quantum numbers by demanding that the action of some of the generators on the superconformal primary vanish. These are called shortening conditions and the resulting multiplets have fewer members than the general unconstrained \mathcal{A} multiplet. They are denoted by \mathcal{B} , $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$, \mathcal{B} , \mathcal{C} , $\overline{\mathcal{C}}$, \mathcal{D} , $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$, \mathcal{E} , $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$ depending on the specific shortening condition. Table 9.1 gives a complete overview over the multiplets and their shortening conditions. When constraints like these

Shortening Conditions							
\mathcal{B}_1	$\mathcal{Q}^1_{\alpha} R,r\rangle^{h.w.} = 0$	j = 0	$\Delta = 2R + r$	$\mathcal{B}_{R,r(0,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{B}}_2$	$\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{2\dot{\alpha}} R,r\rangle^{h.w.}=0$	$\overline{j} = 0$	$\Delta = 2R - r$	$ar{\mathcal{B}}_{R,r(j,0)}$			
E	${\mathcal B}_1\cap {\mathcal B}_2$	R = 0	$\Delta = r$	$\mathcal{E}_{r(0,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{E}}$	$ig ar{\mathcal{B}_1}\capar{\mathcal{B}_2}$	R = 0	$\Delta = -r$	$ar{\mathcal{E}}_{r(j,0)}$			
$\hat{\mathcal{B}}$	${\mathcal B}_1\cap ar B_2$	$r=0,j,\bar{j}=0$	$\Delta = 2R$	$\hat{\mathcal{B}}_R$			
\mathcal{C}_1	$\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{Q}^1_\beta R, r \rangle^{h.w.}_\alpha = 0$		$\Delta = 2 + 2j + 2R + r$	$\mathcal{C}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}$			
	$(\mathcal{Q}^1)^2 R, r \rangle^{h.w.} = 0 \text{ for } j = 0$		$\Delta = 2 + 2R + r$	$\mathcal{C}_{R,r(0,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{C}}_2$	$\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_{2\dot{\beta}} R,r\rangle^{h.w.}_{\dot{\alpha}}=0$		$\Delta = 2 + 2\bar{j} + 2R - r$	$\bar{\mathcal{C}}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}$			
	$(\bar{\mathcal{Q}}_2)^2 R,r\rangle^{h.w.} = 0 \text{ for } \bar{j} = 0$		$\Delta = 2 + 2R - r$	$ar{\mathcal{C}}_{R,r(j,0)}$			
\mathcal{F}	$\mathcal{C}_1\cap\mathcal{C}_2$	R = 0	$\Delta = 2 + 2j + r$	$\mathcal{C}_{0,r(j,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{F}}$	$ar{\mathcal{C}}_1 \cap ar{\mathcal{C}}_2$	R = 0	$\Delta = 2 + 2\bar{j} - r$	$ar{\mathcal{C}}_{0,r(j,ar{j})}$			
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}$	$\mathcal{C}_1 \cap \bar{\mathcal{C}}_2$	$r = \overline{j} - j$	$\Delta = 2 + 2R + j + \bar{j}$	$\hat{\mathcal{C}}_{R(j,ar{j})}$			
$\hat{\mathcal{F}}$	$\mathcal{C}_1\cap\mathcal{C}_2\capar{\mathcal{C}_1}\capar{\mathcal{C}_2}$	$R = 0, r = \bar{j} - j$	$\Delta = 2 + j + \bar{j}$	$\hat{\mathcal{C}}_{0(j,\bar{j})}$			
\mathcal{D}	$\mathcal{B}_1 \cap ar{\mathcal{C}_2}$	$r = \bar{j} + 1$	$\Delta = 1 + 2R + \bar{j}$	$\mathcal{D}_{R(0,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{D}}$	$ar{\mathcal{B}}_2\cap\mathcal{C}_1$	-r = j + 1	$\Delta = 1 + 2R + j$	$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{R(j,0)}$			
\mathcal{G}	$\mathcal{E}\cap \overline{\mathcal{C}}_2$	$r = \bar{j} + 1, R = 0$	$\Delta = r = 1 + \bar{j}$	$\mathcal{D}_{0(0,ar{j})}$			
$\bar{\mathcal{G}}$	$\overline{\mathcal{E}}\cap\mathcal{C}_1$	-r = j + 1, R = 0	$\Delta = -r = 1 + j$	$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{0(j,0)}$			

Table 9.1: Shortening conditions and short multiplets for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra [24]. Table taken from [25].

are imposed on the general $\mathcal{A}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}^{\Delta}$ multiplet it was shown in [24] that the long multiplet can be written as the sum of shorter multiplets. These relations are called recombination rules and the important ones for us are

$$\mathcal{A}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}^{2R+r+2j+2} \simeq \mathcal{C}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})} \oplus \mathcal{C}_{R+\frac{1}{2},r+\frac{1}{2}(j-\frac{1}{2},\bar{j})}, \qquad (9.1)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}^{2R-r+2j+2} \simeq \bar{\mathcal{C}}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})} \oplus \bar{\mathcal{C}}_{R+\frac{1}{2},r-\frac{1}{2}(j,\bar{j}-\frac{1}{2})}, \qquad (9.2)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{R,j-\bar{j}(j,\bar{j})}^{2R+j+j+2} \simeq \hat{\mathcal{C}}_{R(j,\bar{j})} \oplus \hat{\mathcal{C}}_{R+\frac{1}{2}(j-\frac{1}{2},\bar{j})} \oplus \hat{\mathcal{C}}_{R+\frac{1}{2}(j,\bar{j}-\frac{1}{2})} \oplus \hat{\mathcal{C}}_{R+1(j-\frac{1}{2},\bar{j}-\frac{1}{2})} .$$
(9.3)

The second ingredient for our argument is called the superconformal index introduced in [47], see also the reviews [48, 49]. We are sepcifically interested in the so-called *left* superconformal index which takes the form (see [25], eq.(5.3))

$$\mathcal{I}^{L}(t, y, v) = \operatorname{Tr}(-1)^{F} t^{2(\Delta+j)} y^{2\bar{j}} v^{r-R}, \qquad (9.4)$$

where the trace is over the Hilbert space of the theory. An important property is that this object only receives contributions from states with

$$\Delta - 2j - 2R - r = 0. (9.5)$$

In particular this implies that the index vanishes on long multiplets. From eq. (9.1)

one can then see that

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mathrm{L}}[\mathcal{C}_{R,r(j,\bar{j})}] + \mathcal{I}^{\mathrm{L}}[\mathcal{C}_{R+\frac{1}{2},r+\frac{1}{2}(j-\frac{1}{2},\bar{j})}] = 0.$$
(9.6)

One can see that the index introduces equivalence classes of short multiplets. These can be labeled by the invariants $\tilde{R} \equiv R + j$, $\tilde{r} \equiv r + j$, \bar{j} and the overall sign. The corresponding class is denoted by $[\tilde{R}, \tilde{r}, \bar{j}]_{+}^{\text{L}}$. A similar analysis can be done for the \hat{C} multiplets with the result that the invariant quantum numbers for the left index are $\hat{R} \equiv j + \bar{j}, \bar{j}$ and the overall sign. Moreover r is fixed by $r = \bar{j} - j$. This equivalence class is denoted by $[\hat{R}, \bar{j}]_{+}^{\text{L}}$. The explicit formulas for the indices of these equivalence classes are

$$\mathcal{I}_{[\tilde{R},\tilde{r},\bar{j}]_{+}^{\mathrm{L}}}^{\mathrm{L}} = (-1)^{2\bar{j}+1} t^{6+4\tilde{R}+2\tilde{r}} v^{-2+\tilde{r}-\tilde{R}} \frac{(1-t^{2}v)(t-\frac{v}{y})(t-vy)}{(1-t^{3}y)(1-\frac{t^{3}}{y})} (y^{2\bar{j}} + \ldots + y^{-2\bar{j}}), \quad (9.7)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{[\hat{R},\bar{j}]_{+}^{\mathrm{L}}}^{\mathrm{L}} = (-1)^{2\bar{j}} \frac{t^{6-2\bar{j}+4\hat{R}} v^{-1+2\bar{j}-\hat{R}} (1-t^{2}v)}{(1-t^{3}y)(1-t^{3}/y)} \times (t(y^{2\bar{j}+1}+\ldots+y^{-(2\bar{j}+1)}) - v(y^{2\bar{j}}+\ldots+y^{-2\bar{j}})). \quad (9.8)$$

9.2 Review of the Sieve algorithm

To find the quantum numbers of the extra protected states, we employ the Sieve algorithm as described in [25]. Let us restate the simplest example of this algorithm here. We begin by expanding the difference between the true and the naive index in t,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{QCD}} - \mathcal{I}_{\text{naive}} = -\frac{t^{13}}{v} \left(y + \frac{1}{y} \right) + \dots$$
(9.9)

This discrepancy can be compared with the *t*-expansion of a general C-multiplet $\left[\tilde{R}, \tilde{r}, \bar{j}\right]_{+}^{L}$,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\left[\tilde{R},\tilde{r},\bar{j}\right]}^{L} = -t^{6+4\tilde{R}+2\tilde{r}}v^{\tilde{r}-\tilde{R}}\left(y^{2\bar{j}}+\dots+y^{-2\bar{j}}\right)+\dots,$$
(9.10)

from which we find

$$\tilde{R} = \frac{3}{2}, \quad \tilde{r} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (9.11)

Furthermore, using the definition of the left superconformal index from eq. (9.4), we can read off some of the quantum numbers of the lowest extra protected state, namely

$$\Delta + j = \frac{13}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad r - R = -1.$$
 (9.12)

Note that from the relation $\tilde{r} = \bar{j}$ we see that this is a $\hat{\mathcal{C}}$ -multiplet.

After having determined the lowest state, we subtract its full index to find the

next-lowest discrepancy,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{QCD}} - \mathcal{I}_{\text{naive}} - \mathcal{I}_{\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[\frac{3}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]_{+}^{L}} = -t^{18} + \dots,$$
 (9.13)

from which we extract the constraints

$$\Delta + j = \frac{18}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = 0, \quad r - R = 0, \qquad (9.14)$$

and the state has to be fermionic. As before, we determine the multiplet to be of type C with quantum numbers $[2, 2, 0]_{+}^{L}$. Continuing in this way, we can successively find the constraints for all extra protected states, with the lowest ones given as in [25]:

- $\hat{\mathcal{C}}$ -multiplets: $\left[2, \frac{1}{2}\right]_{+}^{L}, \left[4, 1\right]_{+}^{L}, \left[4, \frac{3}{2}\right]_{+}^{L}, \ldots$
- *C*-multiplets: $[2, 2, 0]_+^L$, $[2, 3, 0]_+^L$, $[2, 4, 0]_+^L$, ...

Note that the superconformal index does not uniquely fix the multiplet in which the extra proteced state appears. Indeed, the index vanishes on long multiplets. Therefore, the sum of the superconformal indices which can recombine into a long multiplet also vanishes. The index therefore fixes the extra protected multiplet only up to this subtletly. However, so far, all states we obtained were immediately contained in the multiplet the index suggests.

9.3 Results

In this section we describe the procedure for the determination of the extra states for the first state before listing our current results. As reviewed above, the quantum numbers of the first extra protected state have to obey the constraints

$$\Delta + j = \frac{13}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad r - R = -1, \qquad (9.15)$$

and the state has to be fermionic. It immediately follows from these constraints that the length of the operator is bounded from above by L = 6, since the lowest possible dimension of a field is that of a scalar with dimension 1. The simplest way of finding the wanted state then is to write down all possible operators of a given length consistent with eq. (9.15) and act with the spin-chain Hamiltonian of [50] on an arbitrary linear combination of these states. To simplify this procedure, we start from a handful of states and act with the Hamiltonian repeatedly on the list of so-generated operators until no new states are created. While this does not guarantee that we find the full basis of states, it will certainly generate a closed subsector for us.

	Constraints					Extra state			Highest weight						
	$\Delta + j$	\overline{j}	r-R	Length	Δ	j	\overline{j}	R	r	Δ	j	\overline{j}	R	r	$R_{(j,\bar{j})}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[2,\frac{1}{2}\right]$	$\frac{13}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	-1	4	$\frac{11}{2}$	1	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{10}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	1	0	$1_{(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[4,\frac{3}{2}\right]$	$\frac{19}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	-1	4	$\frac{15}{2}$	$\frac{4}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{14}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	1	0	$1_{(\frac{3}{2},\frac{3}{2})}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}[4,1]$	$\frac{20}{2}$	1	-2	6	$\frac{17}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{2}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{16}{2}$	$\frac{2}{2}$	$\frac{2}{2}$	2	0	$2_{(1,1)}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[6,\frac{5}{2}\right]$	$\frac{25}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	-1	4	$\frac{19}{2}$	$\frac{6}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{18}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	1	0	$1_{(\frac{5}{2},\frac{5}{2})}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}[6,2]$	$\frac{26}{2}$	2	-2	6						$\frac{20}{2}$	2	2	2	0	$2_{(2,2)}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[6,\frac{3}{2}\right]$	$\frac{27}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	-3	8						$\frac{22}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	3	0	$3_{\left(rac{3}{2},rac{3}{2} ight)}$
$\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left[8, \frac{7}{2} ight]$	$\frac{31}{2}$	$\frac{7}{2}$	-1	4						$\frac{22}{2}$	$\frac{7}{2}$	$\frac{7}{2}$	1	0	$1_{(\frac{7}{2},\frac{7}{2})}$
$\mathcal{C}\left[2,2,0\right]$	$\frac{18}{2}$	0	0	6	$\frac{15}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	0	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{14}{2}$	1	0	$\frac{2}{2}$	1	$1_{(1,0)}$
$\mathcal{C}\left[2,3,0\right]$	$\frac{20}{2}$	0	+1	7	$\frac{17}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	0	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{5}{2}$	$\frac{16}{2}$	1	0	1	2	$1_{(1,0)}$
$\mathcal{C}\left[2,4,0 ight]$	$\frac{22}{2}$	0	+2	8	$\frac{19}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	0	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{7}{2}$	$\frac{18}{2}$	1	0	1	3	$1_{(1,0)}$
$\mathcal{C}\left[2,5,0\right]$	$\frac{24}{2}$	0	+3	9	$\frac{21}{2}$	$\frac{3}{2}$	0	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{9}{2}$	$\frac{20}{2}$	1	0	1	4	$1_{(1,0)}$

Table 9.2: Table of currently known extra protected states.

For the constraints listed in eq. (9.15) this procedure successfully finds the wanted state at length L = 4 with quantum numbers

$$\Delta = \frac{11}{2}, \quad j = 1, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad R = \frac{3}{2}, \quad r = \frac{1}{2}$$
(9.16)

and the state is fermionic. The explicit form is quite ugly and will be listed at the end of this section. To learn more about the multiplet in which this operator lives, we determine the highest weight by acting with the conformal supercharges S, \bar{S} and find a state with quantum numbers

$$\Delta = \frac{10}{2}, \quad j = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad R = 1, \quad r = 0.$$
(9.17)

By acting on the highest weight state with the appropriate combination of supercharges Q, \bar{Q} we have established that it satisfies the appropriate semi-shortening conditions for a \hat{C} multiplet.

We repeat the procedure explained above to determine more of the extra protected states. We list the results in table 9.2. We write out the quantum numbers only for the states that we have explicitly determined (i.e. we have only determined the highest weight states for some of the higher extra multiplets). We see some nice patterns emerging. Especially the structure for the $\hat{\mathcal{C}}$ -multiplets seems to be clear. It is apparently given by $1_{(n/2,n/2)}$ for odd n. Finally let us give the explicit forms of the lowest new protected state and the corresponding highest weight state. They come from the multiplet $1_{(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})}$ and the former takes the form

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{O}_{1_{(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\phi}(D_{+\dot{+}}\lambda_{+1})Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\lambda_{+1})\bar{\phi}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{Q}_{1})\bar{\phi}\lambda_{+1}Q_{1} \right) \\ &+ \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(Q_{1}(D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{Q}_{1})\lambda_{+1}\bar{\phi} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\phi}(D_{+\dot{+}}Q_{1})\bar{Q}_{1}\lambda_{+1} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\phi}\lambda_{+1}(D_{+\dot{+}}Q_{1})\bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ &- 2 \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\phi}\lambda_{+1}\lambda_{+1}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \right) + 2 \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}\lambda_{+1}\lambda_{+1}\bar{\phi} \right) - \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{\phi})Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1}\lambda_{+1} \right) \\ &+ \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{\phi})\lambda_{+1}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) + 6 \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{Q}_{1})\psi_{+}\bar{Q}_{1}Q_{1} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\psi_{+}(D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{Q}_{1})Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ &- \frac{13}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\psi}_{+}Q_{1}(D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{Q}_{1})Q_{1} \right) + 2 \mathrm{tr} \left(Q_{1}(D_{+\dot{+}}\bar{\psi}_{+})Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}Q_{1})\bar{\psi}_{+}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ &+ 6 \mathrm{tr} \left(Q_{1}\tilde{\psi}_{+}(D_{+\dot{+}}Q_{1})\bar{Q}_{1} \right) - \frac{13}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\psi_{+}\bar{Q}_{1}(D_{+\dot{+}}Q_{1})\bar{Q}_{1} \right) + 2 \mathrm{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}}\psi_{+})\bar{Q}_{1}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(F_{+\dot{+}}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}F_{++}Q_{1}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\tilde{\psi}_{+}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}\lambda_{+1}Q_{1} \right) \\ &+ \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(Q_{1}\tilde{\psi}_{+}\lambda_{+1}\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \right) + \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}\lambda_{+1}\psi_{+}\bar{Q}_{1} \right) + \frac{7}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1}\psi_{+}\bar{Q}_{1}\lambda_{+1} \right) , \qquad (9.18) \end{aligned}$$

while the latter is given by

$$\begin{split} &\mathcal{O}_{\text{h.w.1}_{\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}} \\ &= -\frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\phi} \phi Q_1(D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1) \right) - \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\phi \bar{\phi} Q_1(D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1) \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\phi} \phi (D_{+\dot{+}} Q_1) \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &+ \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\phi \bar{\phi} (D_{+\dot{+}} Q_1) \bar{Q}_1 \right) + \text{tr} \left(\bar{\phi} (D_{+\dot{+}} \phi) Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) - \text{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}} \phi) \bar{\phi} Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &+ 2 \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \phi \bar{\phi} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \right) - 2 \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \phi \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \bar{\phi} \right) - 2 \text{tr} \left(\phi \lambda_{+1} \bar{\phi} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \right) \\ &+ 2 \text{tr} \left(\phi \lambda_{+1} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \bar{\phi} \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\phi} \lambda_{+1} \bar{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \phi \bar{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &- \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\phi} \lambda_{+1} Q_1 \bar{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \bar{\phi} Q_1 \bar{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \right) - \text{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{\phi}) \phi Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &+ \text{tr} \left(\phi (D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{\phi}) Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) - 6 \text{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1) Q_2 \bar{Q}_1 Q_1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(Q_2 (D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1) Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &+ \frac{13}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{Q}_2 Q_1 (D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1) Q_1 \right) - 4 \text{tr} \left(Q_1 (D_{+\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_2) Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}} Q_1) \bar{Q}_2 Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &- 6 \text{tr} \left(\bar{Q}_2 (D_{+\dot{+}} Q_1) \bar{Q}_1, Q_1 \right) + \frac{13}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{Q}_1 (D_{+\dot{+}} Q_1) \bar{Q}_1 Q_2 \right) - 4 \text{tr} \left((D_{+\dot{+}} Q_2) \bar{Q}_1 Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &- \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \phi Q_1 \tilde{\psi}_+ \right) - \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\phi \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} Q_1 \tilde{\psi}_+ \right) - \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \tilde{\psi}_+ Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &- 6 \text{tr} \left(\tilde{\psi}_{+} \overline{\psi}_{\dot{+}} \bar{Q}_1 Q_1 \right) + \frac{13}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{Q}_1 \psi_{+} \bar{Q}_1 \overline{\psi}_+ \right) - \text{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \lambda_{+2} Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \\ &- \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+2} \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} Q_1 \bar{Q}_1 \right) - \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\dot{+}1} \lambda_{+1} Q_2 \bar{Q}_1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \text{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \bar{\lambda}_{\pm 1} Q_2 \bar{Q}_1 \right) \end{split}$$

$$+ \frac{7}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 1} \phi \psi_{+} \bar{Q}_{1} \right) + \frac{7}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\phi \bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 1} \psi_{+} \bar{Q}_{1} \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 2} \lambda_{+1} Q_{1} \bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ + \operatorname{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 2} Q_{1} \bar{Q}_{1} \right) + 6 \operatorname{tr} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\downarrow} \psi_{+} \bar{Q}_{1} Q_{1} \right) + \frac{7}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\psi_{+} \bar{\psi}_{\downarrow} Q_{1} \bar{Q}_{1} \right) \\ + \frac{7}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 1} \lambda_{+1} Q_{1} \bar{Q}_{2} \right) - \frac{7}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\lambda_{+1} \bar{\lambda}_{\downarrow 1} Q_{1} \bar{Q}_{2} \right) - \frac{13}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\downarrow} Q_{1} \tilde{\psi}_{+} Q_{1} \right).$$
(9.19)

All higher states have too many terms to write them down here. These forms are not very informative and it would be good to understand the origin of their structure.
Chapter 10

Conclusion and outlook

The broad motivation for our work is to investigate, how the better understood properties of highly symmetric and idealized theories can shed light on properties of less symmetric and more realistic theories. Our two subjects of focus were the dilatation operator in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theories and the protected spectrum of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal QCD.

First we extended the perturbative argument of [18] to the vacuum of the SU(2, 1|1)sector in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal gauge theories. We have shown up to three loops that the dilatation operator acting on the vacuum of this sector can be obtained by a coupling redefinition of the one from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM. In doing so we made extensive use of the closedness of the sector, the planar limit, background gauge invariance and conformal symmetry. We explicitly calculated this redefinition for theories of class \mathcal{S}_k and checked that it equals the result for the corresponding $\mathcal{N} = 2$ quiver theories for k = 1.

One urgent question for further work is, if this result generalizes to the whole sector. We presented the current status of this investigation. At least for three loops this calculation seems attainable. However any reasonable treatment of this requires the automation of the procedure in [46]. Adding only one excitation will already provide a strong non-trivial check, whether this result generalizes. Adding two derivatives would ultimately establish equality of the S-matrix in the two theories (up to the redefinition of the coupling constant) and thereby prove integrability.

Another line of investigation is, whether our argument can be generalized to an allloop argument. Indeed this was one of the driving motivations for using the covariant formalism, because it considerably improves powercounting and might lead to general powercounting theorems, which historically have been essential for extracting all-loop arguments from supersymmetric perturbation theory.

The unexpected universality of the coupling redefinition in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories that was observed in [36] hints at a deeper physical significance. It poses the question, if the same holds in $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories. It should be investigated, whether our coupling redefinition also holds for other observables like Wilson loops, the Bremsstrahlung function and entanglement entropy.

Finally it would be interesting to see, if a similar argument can also be devised for theories without supersymmetry, which would then be very close to QCD. One reason to be optimistic is the presence of integrability in scattering amplitudes in the Regge limit and one loop integrability of the dilatation operator [17]. A perturbative argument could obviously not rely on supersymmetry, however the covariant formalism in [46] also works for non-supersymmetric theories, providing some hope that this is possible.

Our second subject deals with the new protected states in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD that were found in [25]. As a starting point we used the constraints on their quantum numbers derived there. In order to explicitly construct them, we made a general ansatz consistent with these restrictions and then found the states, that vanish under the action of the Hamiltonian from [50].

The appearance of these higher-spin protected states has some profound physical consequences that beg to be better understood. Via the AdS/CFT correspondence they imply that the low energy limit of the string dual of this theory contains higher-spin states. One step towards a more general understanding of this phenomenon is the recent discovery of new protected spin 2 operators in a broader class of theories. [101]. Also the spin chain picture of the dilatation operator in this theory seems to be much more intricate than in other theories, because these new protected states serve as candidates for possible vacua. The implications of this should be investigated.

On a more direct level the explicit forms of these states are quite intricate and it is as of yet unclear, if there is a different formulation, which makes the structure more tractable.

It is important to note that explicit multi loop calculations for dilatation operators in the past have almost universally been restricted to chiral multiplets, e.g. [75], whereas by necessity we consider the vector multiplet. These calculations tend to be harder, because the D-algebra is much more involved. In order to facilitate these calculations we were led to use background covariant supersymmetric Feynman rules from [44] and [46] and modern concepts from renormalization, developed in [74] and we have applied them in way that to our knowledge has not been done before. We hope that our exposition of these topics might inspire other people to learn these powerful tools and put them to good use.

Appendix A

Covariant derivatives and kinetic operators

A.1 General properties

Derivatives obey the (graded) Leibniz rule:

$$(\partial_A XY) = (\partial_A X)Y + (-)^{|AX|}(\partial_A Y), \qquad (A.1)$$

where $(-)^{|AX|}$ is -1 if both A and X are anticommuting and +1 otherwise. This property is implemented in a clean way by considering the graded commutator

$$[A, B] = AB - (-)^{|AB|} BA.$$
 (A.2)

Derivatives are then considered as *acting via the graded commutator*:

$$(\partial_A X) \equiv [\partial_A, X] \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Together with the following general rules for the commutator

$$[a, bc] = [a, b]c + b[a, c]$$

= {a, b}c - b{a, c},
{a, bc} = {a, b}c - b[a, c]
= [a, b]c + b{a, c}, (A.4)

this consistently implements the graded Leibniz rule. We take (A.3) as the definition for how any kind of derivative acts in general.

In order to define background covariant derivatives we first introduce the antisym-

metric symbol $C_{\alpha\beta}$ with the normalization

$$C_{\alpha\beta}C^{\gamma\delta} = \delta^{\gamma}_{\alpha}\delta^{\delta}_{\beta} - \delta^{\gamma}_{\beta}\delta^{\delta}_{\alpha}, \qquad (A.5)$$

which implies

$$C_{\alpha\beta}C^{\alpha\beta} = 2. \tag{A.6}$$

A specific representation is given by

$$C^{+-} = C_{-+} = i,$$

 $C^{-+} = C_{+-} = -i.$
(A.7)

Covariant derivatives fulfill

$$\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad (A.8)$$

$$[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}] = C_{\alpha\beta} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}}, \qquad [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}}] = C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta}, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} = -\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{A.10}$$

Two of the most important relations that follows from these definitions are

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \end{bmatrix} = i \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} - i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \end{bmatrix} = i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} - i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},$$
(A.11)

which we use as an example of how to prove these identities. The honest way to prove it is to let these operators act on something (which we call A) using the explicit nested structure by which derivatives act. We start with

$$2\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}(A) \equiv \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \left\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, A\right]\right\}\right]$$

Using the general commutator rules (A.4) we can disentangle these nested commutators:

$$= [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}]A + 2\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, A] + \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, A]\} - A[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}] - 2[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, A]\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\} - \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, A]\}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}.$$

Now they can be put back together as commutators again:

$$= [[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}], A] + 2[\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, A]] + [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, A]\}]$$
$$= -2i[\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}, A] + 2[\{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, A]] + [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, A]\}]. \quad (A.12)$$

It follows that

$$[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}](A) = i[\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}, A] - i[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, [\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, A]]$$
$$= i\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}(A) - i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}(A), \qquad (A.13)$$

which is what we wanted to prove. Now that we have gained trust in the method let us do the same calculation without the explicit nested structure of the derivatives.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{(\boldsymbol{A}.\boldsymbol{4})}{=} \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} \right\} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}} \right\} \right) = -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}} \right\}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} \right\}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \left[\left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}} \right\}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} \right] - \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}} \right\} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}}$$
$$= i \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} - i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}. \tag{A.14}$$

We see that we can just use normal commutator rules and end up with the same result. This implies

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{A.11}{=} \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, i\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} - i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) - i\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2} \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix}}_{-2\boldsymbol{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} - \frac{i}{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix}}_{i\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} - 2\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}}$$
$$= \Box + \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) - i\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} + i\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} + i\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} . \tag{A.15}$$

We also find

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta}, [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}] \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) - 2 \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \right)$$
$$= -\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \qquad (A.16)$$

and

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}\right] = -\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{A.17}$$

Another important result is

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{(\boldsymbol{A},\boldsymbol{8})}{=} -\frac{i}{2} \left([\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}}\}] - \left[(\alpha\dot{\alpha}) \leftrightarrow (\beta\dot{\beta}) \right] \right) \\ = -\frac{i}{2} \left((\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}, [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}}]\} + \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}}, [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}]\}) - \left[(\alpha\dot{\alpha}) \leftrightarrow (\beta\dot{\beta}) \right] \right) \\ \stackrel{(\boldsymbol{A},\boldsymbol{9})}{=} -\frac{i}{2} \left((\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}, \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}\}C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + \{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\}C_{\alpha\beta}) - \left[(\alpha\dot{\alpha}) \leftrightarrow (\beta\dot{\beta}) \right] \right) .$$
(A.18)

We thus found the explicit form of the field strength

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}} = i \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} \right] \\ = \frac{1}{2} \left(\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{(\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta)} \} C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} + \{ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{(\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}} \} C_{\alpha\beta} \right) .$$
(A.19)

In particular we have

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right] = -i \left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right\} C_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}.$$
 (A.20)

Letting two contracted derivatives act on \boldsymbol{W}_+ we find

$$C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right] = C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+} - \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right]$$
$$= C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left(\left[\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right],\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right] + \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right]\right)$$
$$= C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left(\left[\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right],\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right] - \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right]\right),$$
(A.21)

which yields

$$C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right] = \frac{1}{2}C^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left(\left[\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\beta}}\right],\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right) \stackrel{(A.20)}{=} -i\left[\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right\},\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right].$$
(A.22)

The covariant d'Alembertian is defined as

$$\Box = \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \tag{A.23}$$

and we can compute its commutation relations with the derivatives

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \right)$$

$$\stackrel{(A.9)}{=} \frac{1}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} C_{\alpha\beta} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}} + C_{\alpha\beta} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \right)$$
(A.24)

and similarly

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \Box\right] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} + \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \right) \,. \tag{A.25}$$

From eqs. (A.24) and (A.25) it follows that

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2},\Box\right] = \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha},\Box\right] + \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},\Box\right] \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha},\Box\right]\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \Box] \} - [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \Box] \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}}] \} - \frac{1}{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} [\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}] - [\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \Box] \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \{ \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \} - \left(\frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \right] + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \right) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \qquad (A.26)$$

and analogously

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2},\boldsymbol{\Box}\right] = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha} \right\} - \left(\frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}\right] + \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \right) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (A.27)

Using $F_{\alpha\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}}$ from eq. (A.19) one can also show that

$$\left[\mathbf{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}},\Box\right] = -\frac{i}{2}\left[\left(\mathbf{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}}F_{+\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}}\right) + 2F_{+\dot{\alpha},\beta\dot{\beta}}\mathbf{\nabla}^{\beta\dot{\beta}}\right].$$
 (A.28)

A.2 The vector kinetic operator

Using the results of the previous section we can investigate the properties of the kinetic operator for the vector field

$$\hat{\Box} = \Box - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} - i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}$$
(A.29)

and compute its commutation relations with the covariant derivatives

$$\begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha}, \Box \end{bmatrix} - i \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha}, W^{\beta} \nabla_{\beta} \end{bmatrix} - i \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha}, \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}, \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix} + \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - i \{ \nabla_{\alpha}, W^{\beta} \} \nabla_{\beta} + i W^{\beta} \underbrace{\{ \nabla_{\alpha}, \nabla_{\beta} \}}_{=0}$$
$$- i \underbrace{\{ \nabla_{\alpha}, \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \}}_{=0} \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} + i \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \underbrace{\{ \nabla_{\alpha}, \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \}}_{=i \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}, \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix} - i \{ \nabla_{\alpha}, W^{\beta} \} \nabla_{\beta}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - i (\nabla_{\alpha} W^{\beta}) \nabla_{\beta}$$
(A.30)

and analogously

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}) - i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\beta}}.$$
(A.31)

From here one can show

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] + \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right]\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha},\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right]\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \underbrace{\left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \right] \right\}}_{=0} - \frac{i}{2} \underbrace{\left(\underbrace{\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta} \right\} \right]}_{=2\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\boldsymbol{W}^{\beta}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta} + \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta} \right\} \underbrace{\left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta} \right\}}_{=0} \right)}_{=0} \right)}_{=i(\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha})} \mathbf{\nabla}^{\alpha} + i \left\{ \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta} \right\} \underbrace{\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}}_{=-\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}} \\= -\frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} - i(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}, \qquad (A.32)$$

and

$$\left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2},\hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}}\right] = -\frac{i}{2}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}})\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} - i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}})\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}.$$
(A.33)

We also find

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta}) - \frac{i}{2} (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\beta}}) + i (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} + i (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta} - i (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\beta}}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} - i (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}^{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(A.34)

For reference we collect all of them here

$$\begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - i (\nabla_{\alpha} W^{\beta}) \nabla_{\beta}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} W^{\alpha}) - i (\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\beta}}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \nabla^{2}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{i}{2} (\nabla^{2} W^{\alpha}) \nabla_{\alpha} - i (\nabla_{\alpha} W^{\alpha}) \nabla^{2}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\nabla}^{2}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{i}{2} (\bar{\nabla}^{2} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}) \bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} - i (\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}) \bar{\nabla}^{2}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{i}{2} (\nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta\dot{\alpha}} W^{\beta}) - \frac{i}{2} (\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\beta}}) + i (\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}_{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\nabla}^{\dot{\beta}} + i (\nabla_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} W_{\beta}) \nabla^{\beta} \\ - i (\bar{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\beta}}) \nabla_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} - i (\nabla_{\alpha} W^{\beta}) \nabla_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$
(A.35)

A.3 The (Anti-)chiral kinetic operators

The (anti-)chiral kinetic operators are

$$\Box_{+}\Phi = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\Phi \text{ and } \Box_{-}\bar{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\bar{\Phi}.$$
 (A.36)

Making use of the commutation relations and the fact that Φ is chiral one can show that the explicit form is

$$\Box_{+}\Phi = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\Phi = \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}\right]\Phi = \frac{1}{2}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \left[\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\right]\right]\Phi$$

108

$$= \left(-\frac{i}{2}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}\right\} - i\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2}\left(\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\right]\underbrace{\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}^{\dot{\alpha}}}_{\infty 0} + \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\underbrace{\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right]}_{\infty - \left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right\}}\right)\right)\Phi$$
$$= \left(\Box - \frac{i}{2}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}\right\} - i\boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}\right)\Phi.$$
(A.37)

Thus

$$\Box_{+} = \Box - \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) - i \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}$$
(A.38)

and similarly

$$\Box_{-} = \Box - \frac{i}{2} (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) - i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} .$$
(A.39)

The following commutation relations hold

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{+} \end{bmatrix} = (\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \boldsymbol{W}_{\alpha}) + \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + i(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{-} \end{bmatrix} = (\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}}) + \boldsymbol{W}^{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} + i(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}}, \qquad (A.40)$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{-} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box}_{+} \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$

From the definition it is easy to see that

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \Box_+ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 = \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 = \Box_- \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \tag{A.41}$$

and

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_- \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \Box_+ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2, \qquad (A.42)$$

which in turn implies

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \Box_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} = \Box_{-}^{-1} \Box_{-} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \underbrace{\Box_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}}_{\text{chiral}} = \Box_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \Box_{+} \Box_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} = \Box_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2} \qquad (A.43)$$

and

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \square_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \square_{+}^{-1} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2.$$
 (A.44)

This can also be used in D-algebra manipulations.

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \Box_- \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \,, \tag{A.45}$$

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 = \Box_+ \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2. \tag{A.46}$$

By a similar calculation one shows that

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} = (\Box_- + i \boldsymbol{W}_{\beta} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta} + i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\beta \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\beta}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha}, \qquad (A.47)$$

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} = (\Box_+ + i \bar{\boldsymbol{W}}_{\dot{\beta}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}} + i \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha \dot{\beta}} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\beta}}) \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{A.48}$$

A.4 Explicit forms of the background covariant derivatives

The explicit form of the background covariant derivatives in terms of the background prepotential is

$$\nabla_{\alpha} = e^{-\Omega} D_{\alpha} e^{\Omega} = D_{\alpha} + e^{-\Omega} (D_{\alpha} e^{\Omega}) = D_{\alpha} + (D_{\alpha} \Omega), \qquad (A.49)$$
$$\bar{\nabla}_{\alpha} = \bar{\Omega}_{\alpha} - \bar{\Omega}_{\alpha}$$

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}} = e^{\boldsymbol{\Omega}} \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} e^{-\boldsymbol{\Omega}} = \dots = \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} - (\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\boldsymbol{\Omega}}).$$
(A.50)

From $\nabla_A = D_A - i\Gamma_A$ we see

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} = i(D_{\alpha}\Omega), \qquad (A.51)$$

$$\Gamma_{\dot{\alpha}} = -i(\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Omega}). \tag{A.52}$$

Furthermore

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} - i\{\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha}\} - i\{D_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} - \{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\dot{\alpha}}\}, \qquad (A.53)$$

and hence

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \{\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha}\} + \{D_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} + i\{\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\dot{\alpha}}\}.$$
(A.54)

The covariant d'Alembertian is found to be

$$\Box = \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - \frac{i}{2} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - i \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$$
$$= \Box_0 - \frac{i}{2} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - i \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \Gamma_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}$$
(A.55)

A.5 Simplifications in our sector

The general rules above simplify significantly in our sector. The fact that the only undotted external indices are lowered + renders many commutation relations and intricate relations between the different operators trivial. In this section we collect the results. From the definitions of the kinetic operators we see that in our sector

$$\Box_{+} = \hat{\Box},$$

$$\Box_{-} = \hat{\Box} - i\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}.$$
(A.56)

From here we can see that

$$\Box_{+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2} = \Box_{-}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}. \tag{A.57}$$

Since in the beginning of the calculation the \Box_{-}^{-1} always appears in the combination $\bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2$ we can use the above relation to write

$$\begin{split} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 &= \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{-}^{-1} \Box_{+}^{-1} \Box_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 = \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{-}^{-1} \Box_{+}^{-1} \Box_{-} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \\ &= \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{+}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 + \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \left[\Box_{-}^{-1}, \Box_{+}^{-1} \right] \Box_{-} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \\ &= \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{+}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 + \frac{i}{2} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \Box_{+}^{-1} \Box_{-}^{-1} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}} \boldsymbol{W}_{+}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\dot{\alpha}+} \underbrace{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} \Box_{-}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2}_{=0} \\ &= \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^2 \hat{\Box}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \,, \end{split}$$
(A.58)

where we used the relation

$$\left[\Box_{-}^{-1},\Box_{+}^{-1}\right] = -\Box_{+}^{-1}\left[\Box_{-}^{-1},\Box_{+}\right]\Box_{+}^{-1} = \Box_{+}^{-1}\Box_{-}^{-1}\left[\Box_{-},\Box_{+}\right]\Box_{-}^{-1}\Box_{+}^{-1}$$
(A.59)

and

$$[\Box_{-}, \Box_{+}] = \left[\Box, \Box + i\boldsymbol{W}_{+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}\right] = \frac{i}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}\right]$$
$$= \frac{i}{2} \left(\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\right]\right\}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} + \boldsymbol{W}_{+}\left\{\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}\right]\right\}\right)$$
$$= \frac{i}{2} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\dot{\alpha}+}\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+}, \qquad (A.60)$$

where the last equation holds up to terms that leave the sector. Eq. (A.58) implies that effectively there is only the propagator $\hat{\Box}^{-1}$ in our sector. The eqs. (A.35) simplify to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = i\delta_{\alpha}^{+}(\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = i\delta_{\alpha}^{+}\left((\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+\dot{\alpha}}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}^{+} + (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+}\boldsymbol{W}_{+})\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{+}\right), \qquad (A.61)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}, \hat{\boldsymbol{\Box}} \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$

We sometimes also need the commutation relations for $\Box,$ which reduce to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = -\boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{+},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{2}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = 0,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}^{2}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = -\boldsymbol{W}_{+} \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{\dot{\alpha}+} \bar{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}_{\dot{\alpha}},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, \boldsymbol{\Box} \end{bmatrix} = i\delta_{\alpha}^{+} (\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{+} \boldsymbol{W}_{+}) \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{+}.$$
(A.62)

Appendix B

Counterterms

In this appendix we collect results on the diagrams that appear in our calculations. In particular we are interested in their superficial UV-divergences.

Following the discussion of section 3.1 we use infrared rearrangement to convert the graphs to propagator type diagrams, then set their external momentum to $p^2 = 1$. In these graphs we always assume a momentum flow that does not introduce new IR divergences.

Results for the unrenormalized graphs are readily found in the literature, see e.g. [75] for some of the graphs discussed here.¹ We list them explicitly below. They can often be expressed through the functions

$$G(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \alpha)\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \beta)\Gamma(\alpha + \beta - \frac{d}{2})}{(4\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(D - \alpha - \beta)},$$
(B.1)

$$G_{1}(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{1}{2} (-G(\alpha,\beta-1) + G(\alpha-1,\beta) + G(\alpha,\beta)),$$
 (B.2)

$$G_{2}(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{1}{2}(-G(\alpha,\beta-1) - G(\alpha-1,\beta) + G(\alpha,\beta)).$$
(B.3)

By I we denote the unrenormalized integrals themselves, evaluated at $p^2 = 1$ and

$$\mathcal{I} = K\bar{R}I \tag{B.4}$$

stands for the superficial UV divergence.

In those cases, where we don't list the closed form formulas for the unrenormalized scalar graphs, we have used their ϵ -expansion as produced by Mincer [76, 77]. For example the graph I_{3b} can be computed with the O4 topology in Mincer. The results in Mincer are in the \overline{MS} -scheme. In order to translate them to our conventions one

¹There is a typo in the formula for I_{32t} in [75].

has to multiply the result by a factor

$$N = (4\pi)^{-2} \exp\left(-\epsilon\gamma + \epsilon \ln(4\pi) - \epsilon^2 \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\right)$$
(B.5)

for every loop. We list our results here and give some examples of the computations in section $3.1\,$

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= \bigoplus_{q \in [1, 1]} = \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}(k_{1} - p)^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= G(1, 1) \\ \mathcal{I}_{1} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right) & (B.6) \\ I_{2} &= \bigvee_{q \in [1, 1]} = \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{2} - k_{1} + p)^{2}(k_{1} - p)^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= G(1, 1)G(3 - \frac{d}{2}, 1) \\ \mathcal{I}_{2} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(-\frac{1}{2\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon}\right) & (B.7) \\ I_{11} &= \bigoplus_{q \in [1, 1]} = \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1} - p)^{2}(k_{2} - p)^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= G(1, 1)^{2} \\ \mathcal{I}_{11} &= -\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2} & (B.8) \\ I_{2t} &= \bigvee_{q \in [1, 1]} = \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1} - p)^{2}(k_{2} - p)^{2}(k_{1} - k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= \frac{2}{d-4}G(1, 1)(G(1, 2) + G(3 - \frac{d}{2}, 2)) \\ \mathcal{I}_{2t} &= 0 & (B.9) \\ I_{2n} &= \bigoplus_{q \in [1, 1]} = \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(p + k_{2} - k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{\Gamma(2 - \frac{d}{2})\Gamma^{3}(\frac{d}{2} - 1)}{\Gamma(3(\frac{d}{2} - 1))} \\ \mathcal{I}_{2n} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{d}} \left(-\frac{1}{4\epsilon}\right) & (B.10) \\ I_{3} &= \underbrace{\int_{q \in [1, 1]} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1} - p)^{2}(k_{2} - k_{1})^{2}(p + k_{3} - k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2} = 1} \\ &= G(1, 1)G(3 - \frac{d}{2}, 1)G(5 - d, 1) \\ \mathcal{I}_{3} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{d}} \left(\frac{1}{6\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{2}{3\epsilon}\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$I_{3t} = \left. \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_2}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_3}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2 (k_1 - k_2)^2 (k_1 + k_3 - p)^2 (k_2 + k_3 - p)^2} \right|_{p^2 = 1}$$
$$= I_{2t} G(5 - d, 1)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{3t} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^6} \frac{2\zeta(3)}{\epsilon} \tag{B.11}$$

$$I_{3b} = \left[\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{3}+k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \right]_{p^{2}=1}$$
$$= N^{3} \left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^{3}} + \frac{7}{3\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{31}{2\epsilon} + \text{finite} \right)$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{3b} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{6}} \left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{2}{3\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{1}{3\epsilon} \right)$$
(B.12)

$$I_{3bb} = \left[\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_2}{(2\pi)^d} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_3}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{k_1^2 k_2^2 k_3^2 (k_1 - p)^2 (k_2 - k_1)^2 (k_3 - k_1 + p)^2} \right]_{p^2 = 1}$$

$$= G(1,1)^2 G(3 - \frac{d}{2}, 3 - \frac{d}{2})$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{3bb} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^6} \left(\frac{1}{3\epsilon^3} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon^2} - \frac{1}{3\epsilon} \right)$$
(B.13)

$$I_{3n} = \left[\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}((k_{1}-p)^{2})^{2}(k_{2}+k_{3}-k_{1}+p)^{2}} \right]_{p^{2}=1}$$
$$= N^{3} \left(-\frac{1}{12\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{7}{8\epsilon} + \text{finite} \right)$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{3n} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{6}} \left(\frac{1}{6\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{3}{8\epsilon} \right) \tag{B.14}$$

$$I_{32t} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{-k_{1} \cdot k_{2}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}+p)^{2}(k_{2}+p)^{2}(k_{3}-k_{1})^{2}(k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}}\Big|_{p^{2}=1}$$
$$= G_{1}(2,1)G_{1}(4-\frac{d}{2},1)G_{2}(6-d,1)$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{32t} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{6}} \left(-\frac{1}{3\epsilon}\right) \tag{B.15}$$

Here and below it is understood that a line with an arrow has another factor of the momentum of that line in the numerator. In I_{32t} the two extra momenta are contracted. Note that there is only one quadratically divergent graph I_{2n} . Its superficial UV divergence is a second order polynomial in its external momentum p^2 . This graph is needed to compute the superficial divergence of I_{3n} . We checked our results against the literature, in particular the ancillary files of [102]. A very useful reference for surveying the literature on Feynman diagrams is [103].

We also list our results for the tensor counterterms, on which there is barely any literature besides [74].

$$\begin{split} I_{2n}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} \\ I_{2n}^{\mu\nu} \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{2}^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2n}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(-\frac{1}{8\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{3}{16\epsilon} \right) g^{\mu\nu} \\ (B.16) \\ I_{2b}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} \mu} \\ p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{-(k_{2}-k_{1})^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2b}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(-\frac{1}{8\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{1}{16\epsilon} \right) g^{\mu\nu} \\ (B.17) \\ I_{2c}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} \mu} \\ p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{-k_{1}^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2c}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{-k_{1}^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2c}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2c}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{\mu}k_{2}^{\nu}}{(k_{1}^{2})^{2}k_{2}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{2c}^{\mu\nu} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} p \end{array}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{\mu}k_{1}^{\nu}}{(k_{1}^{2})^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}+p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}(k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{(24\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{5}{48\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{11}{96\epsilon} \right) g^{\mu\nu} \\ = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{2})^{2}(k_{3}-k_{1}+p)^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}}} \left(\frac{1}{48\epsilon} - \frac{1}{24\epsilon^{2}} \right) g^{\mu\nu} \\ (B.20)$$

$$\begin{split} I_{3}^{\mu\nu3} &= \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{3}-p)^{2}(k_{3}-k_{2}+p)^{2}}{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{3}-p)^{2}(k_{3}-k_{2}+p)^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3}^{\mu\nu3} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{12\epsilon}\right) g^{\mu\nu} \qquad (B.22) \\ I_{3bb}^{\mu\nu} &= \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{1})^{2}(k_{3}-k_{1})^{2}}{k_{1}^{2}(k_{2}^{2}-k_{3})^{2}(k_{3}-k_{1})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bb}^{\mu\nu} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{1}{12\epsilon^{3}} - \frac{1}{24\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{5}{48\epsilon}\right) g^{\mu\nu} \qquad (B.23) \\ I_{3b}^{\mu\nu1} &= \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}(k_{2}^{2})^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}+k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bb}^{\mu\nu1} &= \bigvee_{q} \bigvee_{q} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}(k_{2}^{2})^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bc}^{\mu\nu1} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}-p)^{2}(k_{2}-p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{3}-k_{2})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bc}^{\mu\nu1} &= \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}+p)^{2}(k_{2}-k_{3})^{2}(k_{2}-k_{3})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bc}^{\mu\nu1} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{7}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{k_{1}^{2}k_{2}^{2}k_{3}^{2}(k_{1}+p)^{2}(k_{2}+p)^{2}(k_{1}-k_{3})^{2}(k_{2}-k_{3})^{2}} \Big|_{p^{2}=1} \\ I_{3bc}^{\mu\nu1} &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{4}} \left(\frac{7}{(48\epsilon} - \frac{1}{12\epsilon^{2}}\right) g^{\mu\nu}. \quad (B.25)$$

There are many more counterterms that can be computed this way. For the three loop counterterms we are not aware, that they have been published anywhere.

Bibliography

- C. N. Yang and R. L. Mills, "Conservation of Isotopic Spin and Isotopic Gauge Invariance," *Phys. Rev.* 96 (Oct, 1954) 191–195. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.96.191.
- [2] A. Jaffe and E. Witten, "Quantum Yang-Mills theory." http://www.claymath.org/sites/default/files/yangmills.pdf.
- [3] L. N. Lipatov, "Asymptotic behavior of multicolor QCD at high energies in connection with exactly solvable spin models," *JETP Lett.* 59 (1994) 596–599, arXiv:hep-th/9311037 [hep-th]. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.59,571(1994)].
- [4] L. D. Faddeev and G. P. Korchemsky, "High-energy QCD as a completely integrable model," *Phys. Lett.* B342 (1995) 311-322, arXiv:hep-th/9404173 [hep-th].
- [5] G. P. Korchemsky, "Bethe ansatz for QCD pomeron," Nucl. Phys. B443 (1995) 255-304, arXiv:hep-ph/9501232 [hep-ph].
- [6] G. P. Korchemsky, "Review of AdS/CFT Integrability, Chapter IV.4: Integrability in QCD and N<4 SYM," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 99 (2012) 425-453, arXiv:1012.4000 [hep-th].
- J. A. Minahan and K. Zarembo, "The Bethe ansatz for N=4 superYang-Mills," JHEP 03 (2003) 013, arXiv:hep-th/0212208 [hep-th].
- [8] N. Beisert, C. Kristjansen, and M. Staudacher, "The Dilatation operator of conformal N=4 superYang-Mills theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B664 (2003) 131–184, arXiv:hep-th/0303060 [hep-th].
- [9] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "The N=4 SYM integrable super spin chain," Nucl. Phys. B670 (2003) 439-463, arXiv:hep-th/0307042 [hep-th].
- [10] N. Beisert, V. Dippel, and M. Staudacher, "A Novel long range spin chain and planar N=4 super Yang-Mills," *JHEP* 07 (2004) 075, arXiv:hep-th/0405001 [hep-th].

- [11] N. Beisert et al., "Review of AdS/CFT Integrability: An Overview," Lett. Math. Phys. 99 (2012) 3-32, arXiv:1012.3982 [hep-th].
- [12] A. V. Belitsky, S. E. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky, and A. N. Manashov,
 "Dilatation operator in (super-)Yang-Mills theories on the light-cone," *Nucl. Phys.* B708 (2005) 115–193, arXiv:hep-th/0409120.
- [13] A. V. Belitsky, V. M. Braun, A. S. Gorsky, and G. P. Korchemsky,
 "Integrability in QCD and beyond," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* A19 (2004) 4715–4788,
 arXiv:hep-th/0407232 [hep-th]. [,266(2004)].
- [14] A. V. Belitsky, G. P. Korchemsky, and D. Müller, "Integrability in Yang-Mills theory on the light cone beyond leading order," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 94 (2005) 151603, arXiv:hep-th/0412054 [hep-th].
- [15] A. V. Belitsky, S. E. Derkachov, G. P. Korchemsky, and A. N. Manashov, "Superconformal operators in Yang-Mills theories on the light-cone," *Nucl. Phys.* B722 (2005) 191–221, arXiv:hep-th/0503137 [hep-th].
- [16] A. V. Belitsky, G. P. Korchemsky, and D. Müller, "Integrability of two-loop dilatation operator in gauge theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B735 (2006) 17–83, arXiv:hep-th/0509121 [hep-th].
- [17] N. Beisert, G. Ferretti, R. Heise, and K. Zarembo, "One-loop QCD spin chain and its spectrum," *Nucl. Phys.* B717 (2005) 137-189, arXiv:hep-th/0412029
 [hep-th].
- [18] E. Pomoni, "Integrability in N=2 superconformal gauge theories," Nucl. Phys. B893 (2015) 21-53, arXiv:1310.5709 [hep-th].
- [19] M. R. Douglas and G. W. Moore, "D-branes, quivers, and ALE instantons," arXiv:hep-th/9603167 [hep-th].
- [20] M. Bershadsky and A. Johansen, "Large N limit of orbifold field theories," Nucl. Phys. B536 (1998) 141-148, arXiv:hep-th/9803249 [hep-th].
- M. Bershadsky, Z. Kakushadze, and C. Vafa, "String expansion as large N expansion of gauge theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B523 (1998) 59-72, arXiv:hep-th/9803076 [hep-th].
- [22] S. Kachru and E. Silverstein, "4-D conformal theories and strings on orbifolds," *Phys.Rev.Lett.* 80 (1998) 4855–4858, arXiv:hep-th/9802183 [hep-th].

- [23] A. E. Lawrence, N. Nekrasov, and C. Vafa, "On conformal field theories in four-dimensions," *Nucl. Phys.* B533 (1998) 199-209, arXiv:hep-th/9803015
 [hep-th].
- [24] F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn, "On short and semi-short representations for four-dimensional superconformal symmetry," *Annals Phys.* **307** (2003) 41–89, arXiv:hep-th/0209056 [hep-th].
- [25] A. Gadde, E. Pomoni, and L. Rastelli, "The Veneziano Limit of N = 2 Superconformal QCD: Towards the String Dual of N = 2 SU(N_c) SYM with $N_f = 2 N_c$," arXiv:0912.4918 [hep-th].
- [26] S. Minwalla, P. Narayan, T. Sharma, V. Umesh, and X. Yin, "Supersymmetric States in Large N Chern-Simons-Matter Theories," *JHEP* 02 (2012) 022, arXiv:1104.0680 [hep-th].
- [27] S. Giombi, S. Minwalla, S. Prakash, S. P. Trivedi, S. R. Wadia, and X. Yin, "Chern-Simons Theory with Vector Fermion Matter," *Eur. Phys. J.* C72 (2012) 2112, arXiv:1110.4386 [hep-th].
- [28] C.-M. Chang, S. Minwalla, T. Sharma, and X. Yin, "ABJ Triality: from Higher Spin Fields to Strings," J. Phys. A46 (2013) 214009, arXiv:1207.4485 [hep-th].
- [29] J. M. Maldacena, "The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231-252, arXiv:hep-th/9711200.
- [30] E. Witten, "Anti-de Sitter space and holography," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253-291, arXiv:hep-th/9802150.
- [31] C.-N. Yang, "Some exact results for the many body problems in one dimension with repulsive delta function interaction," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **19** (1967) 1312–1314.
- [32] R. J. Baxter, "Partition function of the eight vertex lattice model," Annals Phys. 70 (1972) 193–228. [Annals Phys.281,187(2000)].
- [33] R. J. Baxter, Exactly solved models in statistical mechanics. 1982. http://www.amazon.com/dp/0486462714.
- [34] N. Beisert and M. Staudacher, "Long-range psu(2,2|4) Bethe Ansatze for gauge theory and strings," *Nucl. Phys.* B727 (2005) 1-62, arXiv:hep-th/0504190 [hep-th].

- [35] V. Mitev and E. Pomoni, "Exact effective couplings of four dimensional gauge theories with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry," *Phys. Rev.* D92 no. 12, (2015) 125034, arXiv:1406.3629 [hep-th].
- [36] V. Mitev and E. Pomoni, "Exact Bremsstrahlung and Effective Couplings," JHEP 06 (2016) 078, arXiv:1511.02217 [hep-th].
- [37] M. T. Grisaru, W. Siegel, and M. Rocek, "Improved Methods for Supergraphs," *Nucl. Phys.* B159 (1979) 429.
- [38] B. S. DeWitt, "Dynamical theory of groups and fields," Conf. Proc. C630701 (1964) 585–820. [Les Houches Lect. Notes13,585(1964)].
- [39] B. S. DeWitt, "Quantum Theory of Gravity. 2. The Manifestly Covariant Theory," *Phys. Rev.* **162** (1967) 1195–1239. [,298(1967)].
- [40] L. F. Abbott, "Introduction to the Background Field Method," Acta Phys. Polon. B13 (1982) 33.
- [41] M. E. Peskin and D. V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory. Addison-Wesley, Reading, USA, 1995. http://www.slac.stanford.edu/~mpeskin/QFT.html.
- [42] S. Weinberg, The quantum theory of fields. Vol. 2: Modern applications. Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- [43] W. Siegel, "Supersymmetric Dimensional Regularization via Dimensional Reduction," *Phys. Lett.* 84B (1979) 193–196.
- [44] M. T. Grisaru and D. Zanon, "Covariant Supergraphs 1. Yang-Mills Theory," Nucl. Phys. B252 (1985) 578–590.
- [45] M. T. Grisaru, B. Milewski, and D. Zanon, "The Supercurrent and the Adler-Bardeen Theorem," *Nucl. Phys.* B266 (1986) 589–619.
- [46] S. M. Kuzenko and I. N. McArthur, "On the background field method beyond one loop: A Manifestly covariant derivative expansion in superYang-Mills theories," *JHEP* 05 (2003) 015, arXiv:hep-th/0302205.
- [47] J. Kinney, J. M. Maldacena, S. Minwalla, and S. Raju, "An Index for 4 dimensional super conformal theories," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 275 (2007) 209-254, arXiv:hep-th/0510251 [hep-th].
- [48] L. Rastelli and S. S. Razamat, "The Superconformal Index of Theories of Class S," in New Dualities of Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, J. Teschner, ed., pp. 261-305. 2016. arXiv:1412.7131 [hep-th].

- [49] L. Rastelli and S. S. Razamat, "The supersymmetric index in four dimensions," J. Phys. A50 no. 44, (2017) 443013, arXiv:1608.02965 [hep-th].
- [50] P. Liendo, E. Pomoni, and L. Rastelli, "The Complete One-Loop Dilation Operator of N=2 SuperConformal QCD," JHEP 07 (2012) 003, arXiv:1105.3972 [hep-th].
- [51] R. Haag, J. T. Lopuszanski, and M. Sohnius, "All Possible Generators of Supersymmetries of the S Matrix," *Nucl. Phys.* B88 (1975) 257. [,257(1974)].
- [52] S. R. Coleman and J. Mandula, "All Possible Symmetries of the S Matrix," *Phys. Rev.* 159 (1967) 1251–1256.
- [53] S. J. Gates, M. T. Grisaru, M. Rocek, and W. Siegel, "Superspace Or One Thousand and One Lessons in Supersymmetry," *Front. Phys.* 58 (1983) 1–548, arXiv:hep-th/0108200.
- [54] J. Wess and B. Zumino, "Supergauge Invariant Extension of Quantum Electrodynamics," *Nucl. Phys.* B78 (1974) 1.
- [55] P. C. West, Introduction to supersymmetry and supergravity. World Scientific Pub Co Inc; 2nd Revised ed. edition, 1990.
- [56] J. Wess and J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and supergravity. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA, 1992.
- [57] I. L. Buchbinder and S. M. Kuzenko, Ideas and methods of supersymmetry and supergravity: Or a walk through superspace. Taylor and Francis, 1998.
- [58] R. E. Kallosh, "Modified Feynman Rules in Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B141 (1978) 141–152.
- [59] N. K. Nielsen, "Ghost Counting in Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B140 (1978) 499–509.
- [60] M. T. Grisaru and D. Zanon, "Covariant Supergraphs 2. Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B252 (1985) 591–620.
- [61] J. S. Schwinger, "On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization," *Phys. Rev.* 82 (1951) 664–679. [,116(1951)].
- [62] I. Jack and H. Osborn, "Two Loop Background Field Calculations for Arbitrary Background Fields," *Nucl. Phys.* B207 (1982) 474–504.

- [63] I. Jack and H. Osborn, "Background Field Calculations in Curved Space-time.
 1. General Formalism and Application to Scalar Fields," *Nucl. Phys.* B234 (1984) 331–364.
- [64] I. G. Avramidi, Covariant methods for the calculation of the effective action in quantum field theory and investigation of higher derivative quantum gravity.
 PhD thesis, Moscow State U., 1986. arXiv:hep-th/9510140.
- [65] A. O. Barvinsky and G. A. Vilkovisky, "The Generalized Schwinger-Dewitt Technique in Gauge Theories and Quantum Gravity," *Phys. Rept.* **119** (1985) 1–74.
- [66] I. N. McArthur and T. D. Gargett, "A 'Gaussian' approach to computing supersymmetric effective actions," *Nucl. Phys.* B497 (1997) 525-540, arXiv:hep-th/9705200 [hep-th].
- [67] J. P. Börnsen and A. E. M. van de Ven, "Three loop Yang-Mills beta function via the covariant background field method," *Nucl. Phys.* B657 (2003) 257–303, arXiv:hep-th/0211246.
- [68] N. N. Bogoliubov and O. S. Parasiuk, "On the Multiplication of the causal function in the quantum theory of fields," *Acta Math.* 97 (1957) 227–266.
- [69] K. Hepp, "Proof of the Bogolyubov-Parasiuk theorem on renormalization," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 2 (1966) 301–326.
- [70] W. Zimmermann, "Convergence of Bogolyubov's method of renormalization in momentum space," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 15 (1969) 208–234. [Lect. Notes Phys.558,217(2000)].
- [71] W. E. Caswell and A. D. Kennedy, "A simple approach to renormalization theory," *Phys. Rev.* D25 (1982) 392.
- [72] K. G. Chetyrkin and F. V. Tkachov, "Infrared R operation and ultraviolet counterterms in the MS scheme," *Phys. Lett.* **114B** (1982) 340–344.
- [73] K. G. Chetyrkin and V. A. Smirnov, "R* operation corrected," *Phys. Lett.* 144B (1984) 419–424.
- [74] F. Herzog and B. Ruijl, "The R*-operation for Feynman graphs with generic numerators," JHEP 05 (2017) 037, arXiv:1703.03776 [hep-th].
- [75] C. Sieg, "Superspace computation of the three-loop dilatation operator of N=4 SYM theory," *Phys.Rev.* D84 (2011) 045014, arXiv:1008.3351 [hep-th].

- [76] S. G. Gorishnii, S. A. Larin, L. R. Surguladze, and F. V. Tkachov, "Mincer: Program for Multiloop Calculations in Quantum Field Theory for the Schoonschip System," *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 55 (1989) 381–408.
- [77] S. A. Larin, F. V. Tkachov, and J. A. M. Vermaseren, "The FORM version of MINCER,". https://www.nikhef.nl/~form/maindir/packages/mincer/mincer.html.
- [78] F. J. Dyson, "The S matrix in quantum electrodynamics," *Phys. Rev.* 75 (1949) 1736–1755.
- [79] S. Weinberg, "High-energy behavior in quantum field theory," *Phys. Rev.* 118 (1960) 838–849.
- [80] Y. Hahn and W. Zimmermann, "An Elementary Proof of Dyson's Power Counting Theorem," *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 10 no. 4, (Dec, 1968) 330–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03399506.
- [81] P. Liendo and L. Rastelli, "The Complete One-loop Spin Chain of N =1 SQCD," JHEP 10 (2012) 117, arXiv:1111.5290 [hep-th].
- [82] F. A. Dolan and H. Osborn, "Applications of the Superconformal Index for Protected Operators and q-Hypergeometric Identities to N=1 Dual Theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B818 (2009) 137–178, arXiv:0801.4947 [hep-th].
- [83] G. 't Hooft, "On the Convergence of Planar Diagram Expansions," Commun. Math. Phys. 86 (1982) 449.
- [84] G. 't Hooft, "A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions," *Nucl. Phys.* B72 (1974) 461. [,337(1973)].
- [85] G. Veneziano, "Some Aspects of a Unified Approach to Gauge, Dual and Gribov Theories," Nucl. Phys. B117 (1976) 519–545.
- [86] R. Andree and D. Young, "Wilson Loops in N=2 Superconformal Yang-Mills Theory," JHEP 1009 (2010) 095, arXiv:1007.4923 [hep-th].
- [87] M. Leoni, A. Mauri, and A. Santambrogio, "On the amplitude/Wilson loop duality in N=2 SCQCD," *Phys. Lett.* B747 (2015) 325–330, arXiv:1502.07614 [hep-th].
- [88] M. Leoni, A. Mauri, and A. Santambrogio, "Four-point amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD," *JHEP* **09** (2014) 017, arXiv:1406.7283 [hep-th]. [Erratum: JHEP02,022(2015)].

- [89] C. Gomez, A. Mauri, and S. Penati, "The Bremsstrahlung function of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCQCD," *JHEP* **03** (2019) 122, arXiv:1811.08437 [hep-th].
- [90] E. Pomoni and C. Sieg, "From N=4 gauge theory to N=2 conformal QCD: three-loop mixing of scalar composite operators," arXiv:1105.3487 [hep-th].
- [91] D. Gaiotto and S. S. Razamat, " $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories of class \mathcal{S}_k ," *JHEP* **07** (2015) 073, arXiv:1503.05159 [hep-th].
- [92] S. Franco, H. Hayashi, and A. Uranga, "Charting Class S_k Territory," *Phys. Rev.* D92 no. 4, (2015) 045004, arXiv:1504.05988 [hep-th].
- [93] A. Hanany and K. Maruyoshi, "Chiral theories of class S," JHEP 12 (2015) 080, arXiv:1505.05053 [hep-th].
- [94] I. Coman, E. Pomoni, M. Taki, and F. Yagi, "Spectral curves of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories of class \mathcal{S}_k ," *JHEP* 06 (2017) 136, arXiv:1512.06079 [hep-th].
- [95] J. J. Heckman, P. Jefferson, T. Rudelius, and C. Vafa, "Punctures for theories of class S_{Γ} ," *JHEP* **03** (2017) 171, arXiv:1609.01281 [hep-th].
- [96] S. S. Razamat, C. Vafa, and G. Zafrir, "4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ from 6d (1, 0)," *JHEP* 04 (2017) 064, arXiv:1610.09178 [hep-th].
- [97] D. R. Morrison and C. Vafa, "F-theory and $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SCFTs in four dimensions," JHEP 08 (2016) 070, arXiv:1604.03560 [hep-th].
- [98] I. Bah, A. Hanany, K. Maruyoshi, S. S. Razamat, Y. Tachikawa, and G. Zafrir, "4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ from 6d $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ on a torus with fluxes," *JHEP* 06 (2017) 022, arXiv:1702.04740 [hep-th].
- [99] T. Bourton and E. Pomoni, "Instanton counting in Class S_k ," arXiv:1712.01288 [hep-th].
- [100] S. S. Razamat and E. Sabag, "A freely generated ring for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ models in class \mathcal{S}_k ," *JHEP* **07** (2018) 150, arXiv:1804.00680 [hep-th].
- [101] K. Chen, M. Gutperle, and C. F. Uhlemann, "Spin 2 operators in holographic $4d \mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ SCFTs}$," arXiv:1903.07109 [hep-th].
- [102] M. V. Kompaniets and E. Panzer, "Minimally subtracted six loop renormalization of O(n)-symmetric \$\phi^4\$ theory and critical exponents," Phys. Rev. D96 no. 3, (2017) 036016, arXiv:1705.06483 [hep-th].

[103] C. Bogner, S. Borowka, T. Hahn, G. Heinrich, S. P. Jones, M. Kerner, A. von Manteuffel, M. Michel, E. Panzer, and V. Papara, "Loopedia, a Database for Loop Integrals," *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 225 (2018) 1–9, arXiv:1709.01266 [hep-ph].

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I'd like to thank Elli Pomoni, whose everlasting guidance and encouragement have been a big motivation throughout the whole time. During the more stressful moments she was always there to support me and she always found the right perspective to keep me going. Her deep understanding of physics and her passion to share her knowledge have made her a great teacher and I'm thankful that I could learn so much from her.

I also want to thank Sven Moch for his support especially during the final stages of the process.

My gratitude also goes to all the people of the theory group at DESY, who have made the sometimes tedious process of writing this thesis that much more enjoyable. There are too many people to name them all but in particular I want to thank Anne Ernst, Yannick Linke, Ioana Coman-Lohi, Martina Cornagliotto, Tom Bourton and Troy Figiel for their friendship and for the great experiences we have collected together.

My work was supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG) via the Emmy Noether program "Exact results in Gauge theories".

Finally I want to thank my parents, who have always encouraged me to pursue my curiosity, wherever it may lead me.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Quellen benutzt zu haben.

Die eingereichte schriftliche Fassung entspricht der auf dem elektronischen Speichermedium.

Die Dissertation wurde in der vorgelegten oder einer ähnlichen Form nicht schon einmal in einem früheren Promotionsverfahren angenommen oder als ungenügend beurteilt.

Hamburg, den 14. April 2020

Unterschrift